Collagen-Stimulating Activity of Australian Sea Cucumber (*Holothuria atra*) Extracts on Human Skin Fibroblast Cells



A thesis submitted for the degree of Master Biotechnology Studies at Flinders University

Gintung Patantis

Department of Medical Biotechnology School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences Flinders University of South Australia

Declaration

I certify that this thesis does not contain material which has been accepted for the award of any degree or diploma; and to the best of my knowledge and belief it does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

Gintung Patantis

Table of Contents

Declara	tion	ii
Table o	f Contents	iii
List of [Гables	vi
List of l	Figures	vii
Acknow	vledgements	ix
Abbrev	iations	X
Abstrac	et	xi
СНАРТ	TER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.	Morphological and taxonomical classification of sea cucumbers	2
1.2.	Distribution and habitat of sea cucumbers	
1.3.	The sea cucumber industry	4
	1.3.1. Commercial sea cucumbers	4
	1.3.2. International trade of sea cucumbers	5
1.4.	The potential of Australian sea cucumbers	6
	1.4.1. Australian sea cucumbers	6
	1.4.2. The potential of <i>Holothuria atra</i>	7
1.5.	Sea cucumbers as functional foods and folk medicine	
1.6.	Bioactivity of sea cucumbers	
1.7.	Saponins	
	1.7.1. Sea cucumber saponins	11
	1.7.2. Extraction and isolation of saponins	
	1.7.3. The potential applications of sea cucumber saponins	
1.8.	Saponins for cosmeceutical applications	14
	1.8.1. Cosmetics	15
	1.8.2. Skin aging	16
	1.8.3. Comparison of sea cucumber and ginseng saponins as cosmed	ceutical
	ingredients	
1.9.	Commercial cosmetics from sea cucumbers	
1.10.	Aims and scope	
1.11.	Hypothesis.	
1.12.	Research significances	
СНАРТ	FER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	25
2.1.	Reagents	
2.2.	Sea cucumber sample	
2.3.	Extraction optimization procedures	

2.4.	Cytotoxicity of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	. 27
	2.4.1. Cell line and cell culture	. 28
	2.4.2. Standard curve	. 29
	2.4.3. Treatment plates	. 30
	2.4.4. Crystal violet staining assay	. 30
2.5.	Anti-aging properties of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	. 31
	2.5.1. Antioxidant properties	. 31
	2.5.2. Collagen production	. 33
2.6.	Chemical characterisation of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	. 34
	2.6.1. Saponins content	. 34
	2.6.2. Sugars content	. 36
	2.6.3. Total phenolics content	. 36
	2.6.4. Soluble protein	. 38
	2.6.5. Thin-layer Chromatography (TLC) analysis	. 38
2.7.	Correlation between chemical characteristics of extract and collagen	
	production	. 39
2.8.	Statistical analysis	. 40
СНАРТ	FER 3 RESULTS	. 41
3.1.	Extraction optimization of <i>H. atra</i>	. 41
3.2.	Cytotoxicity of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	. 43
3.3.	Anti-aging properties of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	. 45
	3.3.1. Antioxidant properties	. 45
	3.3.2. Effect of <i>H. atra</i> extracts on collagen production in skin fibroblast ce	ell
	CRL 2076	. 46
3.4.	Chemical characteristic of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	. 47
	3.4.1. Saponins content	. 47
	3.4.2. Sugars content	. 49
	3.4.3. Total phenolics content	. 49
	3.4.4. Soluble protein	. 50
	3.4.5. TLC analysis of active extracts	. 51
СНАРТ	FER 4 DISCUSSION	. 54
4.1.	Water extraction produced higher yield compared to 70%EtOH extraction.	. 54
4.2.	Different cytotoxicity effects of <i>H. atra</i> extracts prepared by different	
	extraction conditions and solvents	. 56
4.3.	Saponin and sugar contents of <i>H. atra</i> extracts have the highest correlation	
	number to the cytotoxicity of human skin fibroblast cells	. 57
4.4.	Anti-aging properties of <i>H. atra</i> extract	. 59
	4.4.1. Low antioxidant properties of <i>H. atra</i> extract	. 59
	4.4.2. Negligible correlations between antioxidant properties and phenolic	
	content of <i>H. atra</i> extract	. 62
	4.4.3. H. atra extracts significantly increased collagen production of human	n
	skin fibroblast CRL 2076	. 64

4.5.	Chemical characteristic of <i>H. atra</i> extracts	
	4.5.1. More saponins content in 70%EtOH extracts	
	4.5.2. Similar sugar contents in water and 70%EtOH extracts	
	4.5.3. Low phenolic content of <i>H. atra</i> extract	69
	4.5.4. More soluble protein in water extracts	72
	4.5.5. More compounds in 70%EtOH extracts	73
	ER & CONCLUCION AND EVELOPE DIDECTIONS	
CHAP'	TER 5 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	75
CHAP 5.1.	Conclusion AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	75 75
CHAP 5.1. 5.2.	Conclusion AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS Future directions	75 75 76
CHAP 5.1. 5.2. Referen	Conclusion	

List of Tables

Table 1.1.	Extraction methods of saponins with various parameters	13
Table 1.2.	Summary of the cosmeceutical activity of ginseng and sea cucumber saponins ($$ means the saponins activities have been reported)	22
Table 2.1.	Extraction optimization of sea cucumber	27
Table 3.1.	The retention time of <i>H. atra</i> extract compounds from TLC analysis. 2: Shaking 60°C water extract; 3: Shaking 60°C 70%EtOH extract; 4: Sonication at 22°C water extract and 5: Sonication at 22°C 70%EtOH extract. (-) compound not found in the extract (+) compound found in the extract with different intensity	53
Table 4.1.	Correlation between chemical characteristics of extract and cell viability of human skin fibroblast cells. The correlation analysis was conducted using a regression test and the significance level was found using one-way ANOV with $n = 20$.	f a A 58
Table 4.2.	Comparison of antioxidant properties of <i>H. atra</i> and other antioxidant sources	62
Table 4.3.	Correlation between chemical characteristics of extract and collagen production. The analysis used a regression test and the significance level was found using one-way ANOVA with $n = 4$.	65
Table 4.4.	Comparison of phenolics content of <i>H. atra</i> and other phenolic sources	71

List of Figures

Figure 1.1.	Anatomy of sea cucumber (Pawson <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
Figure 1.2.	Examples of calcareous rings; A: medium posterior projections ring; B: short posterior projections ring; C, no posterior projections ring; D: tubular, long, complex, posterior projections ring (Pawson <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
Figure 1.3.	The structure of saponin (Moghimipour and Handali, 2015)11
Figure 1.4.	Mechanism of skin aging by UV radiation (+, increase; –, decrease). UV radiation induces ROS that damages lipids, DNA and mitochondria. It also up regulates MMPs via AP-1 resulting collagen degradation. In addition, ROS down regulates TGF- β , which is collagen production promoter. ROS also increases the levels of elastase and hyaluronidase that breakdown elastin and hyaluronic acid. The overall result changes in skin structures (Mukherjee <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Figure 2.1.	(a) Dried <i>H. atra</i> body wall sample collected from Chanel Island, North Territory used in this study; (b) Under water image of <i>H. atra</i> (Purcell <i>et al.</i> , 2012b)
Figure 3.1.	<i>H. atra</i> body wall extract yields from each stage of extraction of four sequence extractions in the shaking at 22°C. The sea cucumber powder was extracted at a ratio of 1:5 (w/v) for 30 min at 90 rpm. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD (<i>n</i> =3). Values are calculated based on the dry weight of extract compared to dry weight of body wall multiplied by 10041
Figure 3.2.	<i>H. atra</i> body wall extract yields from different extraction conditions and solvents. The sea cucumber powder was extracted at a ratio of 1:5 (w/v) for 30 min of each cycle extraction from a total of four extractions. Shaking extraction was conducted at 90 rpm and sonication with continuous sonication. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD (<i>n</i> =3). Values are calculated based on the dry weight of extract compared to dry weight of body wall multiplied by 100. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at <i>p</i> < 0.05
Figure 3.3.	Cytotoxicity of <i>H. atra extracts</i> against human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076. (a) Water extract of shaking at 60°C; (b) 70%EtOH extract of shaking at 60°C; (c) Water extract of sonication at 22°C; (d) 70%EtOH extract of sonication at 22°C. The concentrations of <i>H. atra</i> extracts were from 0 to 50 mg/L. 1% water or 1% ethanol were used as solvent controls for each extract. The cells were stained using crystal violet assay. Values are expressed as mean ±SD from three independent experiments. Cell viability was calculated based on cell number of extract treatment compared to the cell number of media control (0 mg/L treatment concentration) multiplied by 100. * p <0.05 compared to the control

Figure 3.4.	. Antioxidant Activity of <i>H. atra</i> body wall extracts from different extraction	on
	conditions and solvents using FRAP assay. Values are expressed as mean	1
	±SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent wit	h
	different letters are significantly different at $p < 0.05$	46

Figure 3.5. Effect of <i>H. atra extracts</i> to the collagen production	n of human skin
fibroblast cells CRL 2076. The treatment concentr	ation was 2.5 mg/L. Skin
fibroblast cells culture without treatment were use	d as a control. Values are
expressed as mean \pm SD from four independent exp	periments. *** <i>p</i> <0.001
compared to the control.	

- Figure 3.7. Sugars content of *H. atra* body wall extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents using anthrone-sulfuric acid method. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at p < 0.05...49
- Figure 3.8. Total phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents using Folin-Ciocalteu method. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at *p*<0.05....50

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank to Australia Awards for the Australian Awards Scholarship that gave me support to study in Flinders University. I also thank to Kurt Muller from KJM Consulting and Department of State Development of Government of South Australia for support and collaboration for my project. I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Wei Zhang and Dr. Faruq Ahmed for their guidance, advice and support throughout my research and thesis writing.

From the Indonesian Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries, I owe my deepest thanks to Prof. Agus Heri Purnomo and Prof. Ekowati Chasanah for their support during my study.

I am thankful to Dr. Yadollah Bahrami and his collaborators who have provided me with sea cucumber samples.

My appreciation to Medical Biotechnology Department members, Prof. Chris Franco, Dr. Fiona Young, and Assoc. Prof. Munish Puri for giving me strong background advice during my study at Flinders University and to Dr. Hanna Krysinska for assistance in the laboratory. Dr. Ricardo Pinto Araujo, Mohammad and Evita for their sharing experience in the laboratory. I would like to specially acknowledge, Shirley Sorokin for the proofreading, Dr. Su Pung, Dr. Kendall Corbin, and fellow students Aim, Trung, Eko, and Mousa from the Centre for Marine Bioproducts Development (CMBD) for the discussion and laboratory experiences.

I would like to thank my family and Ariyanti Suhita Dewi my beloved wife for their continuous support and patience towards me in this project and life. Finally to my dear friends for making me relaxed and happy during these years - thank you.

Abbreviations

uL	Microliter
%	Percentage
ATTC	American Type Culture Collection
cm	Centimeter
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CRL	Cell repository line
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPPH	2.2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DW	Dry weight
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EtOH	Ethanol
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FeCla 7HaO	Ferric chloride beyabydrate
FRAP	Ferric reducing antioxidant power
α (1/2).	Gram
GAE	Gallic acid equivalent
h	Hour
	Hudrogen perovide
	Iscova's Modified Dulbacco's Medium
I	Liter
	Lici Liquid abromatagraphy DhataDiada Array Dataatian Mass
LC-DAD-MIS	Supertremetry
mha	Milikor
mba	Minuta
min	Militian
mL	Milliniter
MMP-1	Matrix metalloproteinase-1
MMPS	Matrix metalloproteinases
M11	3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H tetrazolium bromide
nm	Nanometer
°C	Degree of Celsius
ORAC	Oxygen radical absorbance activity
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
RO	Reverse osmosis
rpm	Revolutions per minutes
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TIMP-1	The tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases-1
TLC	Thin-layer chromatography
TPTZ	Tripyridyltriazine
UK	The United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
UV	Ultraviolet
\mathbf{v}/\mathbf{v}	Volume per volume
W/V	Weight per volume
WW	Wet weight
x g	Relative centrifugal force

Abstract

Sea cucumbers (traded as *beche-de-mer*) have a long history as a functional food and Sea cucumbers contain a wide range of bioactive compounds, which tonic in Asia. have huge potential applications in the nutraceutical and pharmaceutical industries. The compounds detected so far include collagen, gelatin, saponins, fucoidan, and glucosaminoglycones. Saponins, major secondary metabolites in sea cucumbers, are reported to have antibacterial, antifungal, antiprotozoal, antiviral, antioxidant, mutagenic, hemolytic, immunomodulation, and neurotoxic activity. However, very few studies on the cosmetic application of sea cucumber saponins are currently available. The aim of this study was to determine the potential application of saponins-rich extracts of sea cucumbers for cosmeceutical products. We hypothesize that saponinsrich extracts from sea cucumber have anti-aging properties similar to saponins from ginseng that have been widely studied. As a first step, the extraction methods were optimized by using two solvents (water and 70% ethanol (70%EtOH)), and the conditions of shaking at 22°C (room temperature) and 60°C, and sonication at 22°C. The safe dosages for the extracts were then determined by cytotoxicity assays against human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076 using crystal violet staining. Anti-aging properties of the extracts were assessed by measuring collagen production in human skin fibroblast cells and by quantifying antioxidant capacity through estimation of Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP). The extracts, were characterized (total saponins, sugar, total phenolics and soluble protein contents) and fingerprinted using thin-layer chromatography (TLC). The yields of water extracts were significantly higher than 70%EtOH extracts. In addition, the 70%EtOH extracts from shaking at 60°C had significantly higher yields than other conditions; however the water extract was not significantly different. The safe dosages for sea cucumber extracts varied depending on extraction solvent and conditions and ranged from 2.5 - 10 mg/L extracts. At 2.5 mg/L concentration, the sea cucumber extracts increased the collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells up to 3.7-fold. Water extracts contained more antioxidant capacity compared to 70% EtOH extracts, however, the antioxidant capacities of the extracts were 100 times lower than common antioxidant sources such as green tea and grape. The chemical characterization of sea cucumber extracts contained 0.15 - 0.22mg/ mg extract of saponins, 0.06 - 0.09 mg/ mg extract of sugar, $2.14 - 4.99\mu$ /mg extract of phenolics and 0.03- 0.12 mg/ mg extract of soluble protein. TLC showed different distribution of compounds between water and 70%EtOH extracts with 70%EtOH extracts exhibiting a greater number of compounds. Results indicate strong anti-aging properties of sea cucumber extracts on human skin cells and confirm their potential application for anti-aging skin care products.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The need to keep a youthful appearance together with increasing income of communities in developing countries have led to the recent booming in the cosmetic industry (Brandt *et al.*, 2011). Based on Allied Market research, the value of this industry is expected to reach US\$390 billion in 2020 (Kerdudo *et al.*, 2016). Skin care products constitute more than 60% of the total cosmetic production indicating their highest demand in the market (Brandt *et al.*, 2011). Synthetic ingredients used for cosmetic products have been reported to have many deleterious effects and hence they are becoming less popular among consumers in recent years. Therefore, development of new cosmetic ingredients from natural compounds that have better efficacy, quality and safety is gaining popularity in the industry (Kerdudo *et al.*, 2016).

Sea cucumbers have a long history as a functional food and as traditional medicine in the south-east Asian region (Chen, 2005). As a medicine, sea cucumber or haishen (ginseng of the sea) is believed to preserve the blood, kidney, reproductive organs, reducing dryness of intestine, as well as a providing vital essence (Chen, 2003). Recent studies showed that sea cucumbers have huge potential application for medical and pharmaceutical purposes. These biopotencies were contributed by various sea cucumber biocompounds (Bordbar *et al.*, 2011). Most especially the saponins group, which is a major sea cucumber secondary metabolite, has prolific bioactivities (Kim and Himaya, 2012). However, very few studies on the cosmetic application of sea cucumbers saponins are currently available particularly in the collagen stimulating production.

1.1. Morphological and taxonomical classification of sea cucumbers

Sea cucumbers belong to the phylum Echinodermata. Echinoderms are divided into five main classes, including Crinoidea (sea lilies and feather stars), Asteroidea (starfishes or sea stars), Ophiuroidea (basket stars and brittle stars), Echinoidea (sea urchins, sand dollars and sea biscuits) and Holothuroidea (sea cucumbers) (Matranga, 2005). Sea cucumbers are distinguished from other Echinoderms by leathery or soft body wall and the absence of a conspicuous skeleton (Pawson *et al.*, 2010).

So far, more than 1600 species of sea cucumber are known and they are divided into six major orders and 200 genera (Pawson *et al.*, 2010, Arnone *et al.*, 2015). The order, genus and family classification of sea cucumbers are based on the surface and internal morphological features of the body, while the species level are based on the combinations of morphological characteristics of body and spicules. Furthermore, chemical fingerprinting properties of saponins (Bondoc *et al.*, 2013) and molecular tools (Arndt and Smith, 1998) are used to classify the taxonomic levels of the sea cucumbers.

Sea cucumbers have special characteristics (Figure 1.1). The length of sea cucumbers is between a few centimeters to at least two meters. Most sea cucumbers have symmetrical bodies with mouths at the anterior and anuses at the posterior distal. These two ends are connected by intestines (Pawson *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the mouth is surrounded by tentacles and used as one of the features of taxonomic classifications (Olivera-Castillo *et al.*, 2013). Their body contains circular and radial longitudinal muscles. Ten or more ossicles form a calcareous ring surrounding the esophagus. The shape of the ring is also used in the classification of sea cucumbers (Figure 1.2) (Pawson *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1.1. Anatomy of sea cucumber (Pawson et al., 2010)



Figure 1.2. Examples of calcareous rings; A: medium posterior projections ring; B: short posterior projections ring; C, no posterior projections ring; D: tubular, long, complex, posterior projections ring (Pawson *et al.*, 2010)

1.2. Distribution and habitat of sea cucumbers

Holothurians are distributed globally and inhabit various marine environments. They can be found from temperate ocean to tropical, but tropical oceans are the main habitat for many sea cucumbers. The order Aspidochirotida, which includes important commercial sea cucumbers, are dominant in the tropics, while the Dendrochirotida with less commercial value is found in temperate areas (Purcell *et al.*, 2010). Although some sea cucumbers can live at 66 m depths, the normal habitat of the sea cucumber is mainly less than 33 meters (Olivera-Castillo *et al.*, 2013). Various environmental factors such as temperature, salinity, turbidity, nutrients and depth influence the sea cucumbers distribution (Lampe, 2013).

In addition, sea cucumbers can be easily found in various substrates of the seabed. Sand, rock and stony surfaces are important substrates for sea cucumbers, although, they can inhabit shell, clay and algae substrates. Large sea cucumbers are more likely to be found on rock and stone surfaces, while small sea cucumbers live in the holes or cracks of rocks or under rocks (Olivera-Castillo *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, some of sea cucumbers also live as epizooties on marine plant or invertebrate (Purcell *et al.*, 2010). The habitat of sea cucumbers may be related to their function in ecology. Lampe (2013) reported that the sea cucumber is a bioturbator, as it recycles and processes debris and organic materials on the sea floor.

1.3. The sea cucumber industry

1.3.1. Commercial sea cucumbers

Sea cucumbers are an important trade commodity. Commonly known as *beche-de-mer* or gamat or haishen, sea cucumbers have been harvested and commercialized for over more than 1000 years (Hamel *et al.*, 2001) in more than 70 countries worldwide (Purcell et al., 2012a). The global production of *beche-de-mer* is to supply demands from the Asian markets, especially China (Hamel *et al.*, 2001). Up to date, around 60 species of sea cucumbers have been traded (Purcell et al., 2012a) out of more than 1600 known species (Arnone *et al.*, 2015). The main source of *beche-de-mer* is wild capture

(Purcell *et al.*, 2010) and just a few species are currently used in aquaculture. These species include *Apostichopus japonicus, Holothuria scabra, H. nobilis H. fuscogilva* (Chen, 2005).

The tropical species of sea cucumbers contribute more commercial *beche-de-mer* than the ones from the sub-tropics (Purcell et al., 2012a). Two families (Holothuriidae and Stichopodidae) from the order Aspidochirotida contain the most valuable sea cucumbers. These families include the genera <u>Bohadschia</u>, *Holothuria* (Holothuridae), *Actinopyga*, *Isostichopus*, *Stichopus*, *Parastichopus* and *Thelenota* (Stichopodidae) (Bruckner et al., 2003, Purcell et al., 2012a). In terms of commercial value, Chen (2005) classified China's sea cucumbers into several levels. The most valuable are *Apostichopus japonicus* or the prickly sea cucumbers. The second class is the genus *Holothuria* which includes *Holothuria scabra* (sandfish), *H. fuscogilva* (white teatfish), *H. nobilis* (black teatfish) and *H. moebii*. The next level is the genus *Stichopus* and *Thelenota*.

1.3.2. International trade of sea cucumbers

The international market of sea cucumber has grown since the 1980s. The main reason for this development is the re-joining of China into the world trade during that period (Hamel *et al.*, 2001). The increasing demand of sea cucumbers is not only in the yield, but also in the type of species (Bordbar *et al.*, 2011). As the main consumer of *beche-de-mer* products, the Asia-Pacific region also produces the highest number of sea cucumber with 20,000 to 40,000 tonnes per year. The second contributor is the Northern Hemisphere, with total production per year 9,000 tonnes. Africa regions and the Indian Ocean produce 2,000 to 2,500 tonnes per year, whereas the Caribbean and Latin America regions produce less than 1,000 tonnes (Toral-Granda *et al.*, 2008).

The main producer of sea cucumber in Asia is China. During 2000 to 2005, China produced 10,000 tonnes dry sea cucumber per year (Choo, 2008) with more than 90% of the yields originating from aquaculture (Chen, 2005). Indonesia and Philippines shared around 47% of the world's Holothuroidea production with 2,572 tonnes per annum (wet weight). Japan produced 8,101 tonnes per year of *A. japonicus* in the period 2000 to 2005, which was the highest for temperate species (Choo, 2008).

Although China has a huge production of sea cucumbers, the local demand for this product exceeds this production. Therefore, China imports *beche-de-mer* products from other countries via Hong Kong SAR brokers (Chen, 2005). A total of 80% sea cucumber worldwide production is exported to China (Clarke, 2002). Singapore, Malaysia, Taiwan Province of China, Republic of Korea and Japan are the other big consumers of the sea cucumber products (Choo, 2008).

The price of the *beche-de-mer* product is varied and fluctuated. It depends on the species, grade and origin (Kinch *et al.*, 2008). In around 2000, the price of *H. scabra* was US\$ 50 per 100 kg (Hamel *et al.*, 2001). While in 2007, the price of grade super large *H. scabra* from Papua New Guinea was US\$ 60 per kg. Still from this country, the price of *H. whitmaei* was from US\$ 9.10 to 30.30 per kg from the lowest grade to the highest (Kinch *et al.*, 2008).

1.4. The potential of Australian sea cucumbers

1.4.1. Australian sea cucumbers

Australia has a huge diversity of sea cucumbers. Among the more than 1,600 species of sea cucumbers worldwide (Arnone *et al.*, 2015), about 200 species inhabit Australian waters (Conand, 2004). This includes15 families and 62 genera (Rowe and Gates, 1995). Twenty commercial species are found in Australian waters. *Actinopyga*

echinites, A. mauritiana, A. miliaris, Holothuria atra, H. fuscogilva, H. scabra, H. whitmaei, Stichopus chloronotus, S. ocellatus, Thelenota ananas are the most common commercial sea cucumbers in Australia. The most diverse regions are the Torres Strait and Great Barrier Reef with 16 and 14 species respectively (Kinch *et al.*, 2008).

Australia has a big production of *beche-de-mer*. Together with Melanesian countries; Australia is the largest exporter of this product in Western Central Pacific regions. In 2000, Australia exported around 150 tonnes of *beche-de-mer* including 146.5 to China Hong Kong SAR and 4.0 tonnes to Singapore (Kinch *et al.*, 2008). The species contributing to the Australian production of *beche-de-mer* have changed over time. Analysis of the sea cucumber fishery in Great Barrier Reef from 1991 to 2011 showed the changing catch pattern of sea cucumbers. In the early stage, the high value teat fish (*H. whitmaei* and *H. fuscogilva*) dominated the production, while medium value species, burying blackfish (*A. spi*nea) and curry fish (*S. herrmanni*) became important in the later stage with 80% of the total production (Eriksson and Byrne, 2015).

1.4.2. The potential of Holothuria atra

H. atra or 'lollyfish' is one of the commercial sea cucumbers that inhibit Australian waters. It is found in the Coral Sea, Great Barrier Reef, Northern Territory and Western Australia (Kinch *et al.*, 2008). In addition, as a commercial sea cucumber, *H. atra* product has been harvested and traded in at least 20 countries and island states in the western central Pacific region mainly for processed (cooked and dried) product as *beche-de-mer* or trepan (Purcell *et al.*, 2012a). Recent studies show that *H. atra* contains bioactive compounds that have antioxidant and hepatoprotective activity against thioacetamide intoxication in rats (Esmat *et al.*, 2013). Dakrory *et al.* (2015a) reported *H. atra* extract has an antioxidant role against nephrotoxicity induced by 7,

12-dimethylbenz (a) anthracene (DMBA) in male albino rats. *H. atra* extract has also been shown to have protective and curative effects against DMBA-induced hepatorenal diseases in rats (Dakrory *et al.*, 2015b).

1.5. Sea cucumbers as functional foods and folk medicine

Sea cucumbers have a long history as a functional food in Asian cuisine. In China, the utilization of *beche-de-mer* is recorded since the Ming dynasty in 1368-1644 BC (Chen, 2005)). As a traditional medicine, sea cucumber is believed to maintain the blood, kidney, reproductive organs, reducing dryness as well as a vital essence. The other common utilizations are for mitigating weakness, constipation, impotency, and urination problems (Chen, 2003). Because of that, in China, sea cucumbers are more popular with the name haishen or 'ginseng of the sea'. Ginseng is a plant in the family Araliaceae that has similar bioactivity properties (Chen, 2005, Bordbar *et al.*, 2011). In addition, the functional properties of sea cucumbers make them luxurious seafood items (Fabinyi, 2012). Indigenous people in South East Asia have used water extracts of sea cucumbers as cures for cuts, peptic ulcers, chest pain, sores, inflammation and asthma (Taiyeb-Ali *et al.*, 2003). A comprehensive review about sea cucumber as a functional food was published by Bordbar and others in 2011. They discussed high-value components and bioactive compounds of sea cucumber as potential sources for functional foods and nutraceuticals (Bordbar *et al.*, 2011).

1.6. Bioactivity of sea cucumbers

Sea cucumber is a huge source of bioactive compounds with huge potential applications (Bordbar *et al.*, 2011, Aminin *et al.*, 2015, Shi *et al.*, 2016). All body parts

of the sea cucumber contain metabolites with various functions and can be used as potential sources of nutraceutical, pharmaceutical and cosmeceutical products. The bioactive compounds in the body wall have been researched extensively because the wall is the main source of *beche-de-mer* (Hamel *et al.*, 2001). Other parts of the sea cucumber including viscera (Bahrami *et al.*, 2014) and eggs (Zhang *et al.*, 2017) are also known as sources of bioactive compounds.

Review articles from Bordbar et al. (2011) and Shi et al. (2016) show that there are prolific biological and pharmacological properties of sea cucumber bioactive compounds, including anticancer, antitumor, anticoagulant, antimicrobial, antioxidant, antihyperlipidemic, anti-inflammatory, antihypertension and radioprotective, antiangiogenic, and wound healing. These active compounds include triterpene glycosides (saponin), chondroitin sulfates, glycosaminoglycan (GAGs), acid mucopolysaccharide, sphingoid bases, glycolipids, fucosylated chondroitin sulfate, polysaccharides, sulfated polysaccharides, phospholipids, cerebrosides, phosphatidylcholines, sterols (glycosides and sulfates). phenolics, cerberosides. lectins. peptides, glycoprotein, glycosphingolipids, collagen, gelatin, fucoidan, essential fatty acids and hydrolysates (Saito et al., 2002, Bordbar et al., 2011, Yu et al., 2013, Shi et al., 2016). Among these compounds, collagen and saponins have important roles. Collagen is known as the main constituent of sea cucumber body wall (Saito et al., 2002) while saponins are the most abundant secondary metabolites in sea cucumbers (Bahrami et al., 2014). In addition, sea cucumber saponins are known to have a wide range of bioactive properties (Caulier et al., 2011).

1.7. Saponins

Saponins are a group of metabolites that are found in terrestrial plants as well as in marine organisms, including soft corals, sea stars, sponges and sea cucumbers (Honey-Escandón *et al.*, 2015). Saponins also are produced by bacteria (Elekofehinti, 2015). Saponins have surfactant properties and form foams when they are shaken in solution. It is that characteristic, that gives saponin its name coming from as the Latin word "sapo" meaning soap (Faizal and Geelen, 2013). Ecologically, saponins in the plant are related to the defense system from the pathogen and pest and for food quality (Francis *et al.*, 2002). Saponins are used in the food industry as emulsifing, foaming, preservative and flavor agents (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007). The potential applications of saponin for pharmaceutical purposes have been discussed in several review articles (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007, Kim and Himaya, 2012, Netala *et al.*, 2014).

Saponins are complex compounds that consist of two main parts, the sugar component (glycone) and non-sugar component (aglycone) (Figure 1.3) (Moghimipour and Handali, 2015). The complexity of their structure is due to the variety of aglycone structures, the nature of the side chains and the location of the attachment of glycone on the aglycone (Francis *et al.*, 2002). Based on the aglycone structure, saponins are classified into steroidic aglycone and triterpenic aglycone saponins. The difference between steroidic and triterpenic backbones is that the former has 27 C atoms, while the latter has 30 C atoms (Moghimipour and Handali, 2015). Another classification is based on the number of the glycones that attach to the aglycones, they are divided into mono, di and tridesmosidic (Netala *et al.*, 2014). The most common sugar attached to the aglycone are D-glucose, D-quinovose, D-glucuronic acid, D-galactose, Dgalacturonic acid, D- xylose, D-fucose, L-rhamnose and L-arabinose (Kim and

Himaya, 2012, Moghimipour and Handali, 2015). The type of structure influences the biological activities of the saponins (Kim and Himaya, 2012).



Figure 1.3. The structure of saponin (Moghimipour and Handali, 2015)

1.7.1. Sea cucumber saponins

The isolation of sea cucumber saponins was first reported by Nigrelli in 1952 and Yamanouchi in 1955 from different species (Honey-Escandón *et al.*, 2015). Since then, more than 700 saponins have been isolated from sea cucumbers worldwide (Bahrami and Franco, 2015). Saponins are the most important and rich metabolites in sea cucumber (Kim and Himaya, 2012), in which the structure of holothurians saponins is mainly triterpenoid saponin (Kerr and Chen, 1995). The differences between plant and sea cucumber saponins are that in the sea cucumber the sulphate is only in one aglycone and the sugar chain has only one, while in the plant are in both aglycone and one and more sugar chains (Kalinin *et al.*, 2005, Zhao, 2011).

Saponins in sea cucumbers are present in many organs. They are abundant in the body wall, cuvierian organs and gonad (Honey-Escandón *et al.*, 2015). Recent research suggested that viscera of the sea cucumber *Holothuria lessoni* contain a higher

diversity and yield than body wall (Bahrami *et al.*, 2014). Similar to terrestrial saponins, holothurian saponins were suggested to be a part of their defense mechanism. They also influence the reproduction process by organized of the oocyte, maintain for oocyte maturation and mediator of gametogenesis (Kalinin *et al.*, 2008).

1.7.2. Extraction and isolation of saponins

The extraction and isolation of saponins can be done in several ways. The main steps of this process include grinding the material, soaking the material in a solvent and then further purification. The solvent, extraction conditions and properties of material are important factors that affect the efficiency and characteristics of the end product of saponins (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007). In addition, utilization of additional treatments in the soaking step such as heat, ultrasound, microwave and pressure can assist the solvent extraction and have many benefits (Husni *et al.*, 2009, Moghimipour and Handali, 2015).

The most common solvents for saponins extraction are alcohol (methanol, ethanol), water or a mixture of them. Other solvents also have been used to extract saponins such as alcoholic surfactant solutions, glycerine and solvent plus ammonia (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007). While these independent solvent extractions are known as traditional methods, recent developments in extraction methodology increased their efficiency and made them more environmentally friendly by reducing time, solvent and waste without changing the output quality (Moghimipour and Handali, 2015). Microwave-assisted, ultrasound-assisted and accelerated solvent extractions are the modern technologies that are widely used for extraction. These additional treatments help to disrupt the structure of material and increase mass transfer of the solvent to the compound (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007).

12

Furthermore, pressurized solvent extraction and heat reflux extraction, which use high temperature and pressure, are reported to increase the yield of saponins from sea cucumber (Husni *et al.*, 2009). Another method is using super critical CO_2 that is considered to have benefits such as a freeing solvent in the product, easier removal of the solvent from the product and an oxygen free environment (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007). Table 1.1 shows commonly used methods in the first step of extracting saponins, from ginseng and sea cucumber.

Species	Solvent	Temp °C	Other	References
Ginseng	1. 55% ethanol	65-68	24 h stirring	Kang et al. (2009)
	2. 88% ethanol	5-10	Overnight	
	1. Methanol	Hot		Sanada et al. (1974)
	1. Dichloromethane	Boiled	60 min	Lee et al. (2007)
	2. 95% ethanol	Boiled	90 min	
	3. Water		Sonicator 5 min	
	1. Water	Boiled	60 min	Yokozawa et al.
	2. 70% ammonium sulfate			(2004)
	3. 99% methanol		Reflux	
	1. Water	80	6 hours	Seol et al. (2014)
	2. Ultrafiltration			
	1. 70%EtOH			Murthy and Paek
				(2016)
Stichopus	1. Water or	80	Pressurized	Husni et al. (2009)
japonicus	2. 70%EtOH		solvent extraction	
			(PSE)	
			Heat reflux	
			extraction (HRE)	
Holothurian	1. 70%EtOH		Under reflux	El Nemr <i>et al.</i> (2012)
arenicola	2. Methanol	Boiled		
H. scabra	Water compare to			Althunibat <i>et al</i> .
H. leucospilota	Methanol			(2009)
S. chloronotus				
H. axiloga	60% ethanol			Wei-Hua et al. (2008)

Table 1.1. Extraction methods of saponins with various parameters

1.7.3. The potential applications of sea cucumber saponins

Holothurian saponins are reported to have a wide spectrum of potential applications and have been discussed in several review articles. The potential applications include cytotoxic and anticancer, antibacterial, antifungal, antiprotozoal, antiviral, antioxidant, mutagenic, hemolytic, immunomodulation, neurotoxic, inhibition of Na+, K+ -ATPase, mitogenic, radioprotective and inhibition of root growth activities (Kalinin *et al.*, 2008, Kim and Himaya, 2012, Aminin *et al.*, 2015, Aminin, 2016). Among these bioactivities, anticancer and antiviral activities are the most widely studied (Kim and Himaya, 2012). However, the potential applications of sea cucumber saponins for cosmeceutical purposes are rarely reported.

The huge potential applications of sea cucumber saponins are through the membranotropic effects against cellular and model membranes. The saponins and Δ^{5} and $\Delta^{5,7}$ -sterols in the organism membrane formed single ion channels and large channels that are the principle of antifungal, antitumor, cytotoxic and hemolytic activities of sea cucumber saponins. This mechanism allows the increase of microviscosity and suppression of transport processes in the membranes (Augustin *et al.*, 2011). Other properties of saponins also have key roles in the membranotropic activity such as an 18(20)-lactone, oxygen functional group, linear tetrasaccharide fragment, quinovose as the second monosaccharide and 3-Omethyl group (Kalinin *et al.*, 2008).

1.8. Saponins for cosmeceutical applications

Sea cucumber has similar secondary metabolites to ginseng. Both of them contain a high abundance of saponins, even though the structures are different (Chu and Zhang, 2009, Kim and Himaya, 2012). The applications of ginseng saponins as cosmecutical ingredients have been already studied (Zhang *et al.*, 2014, Hwang *et al.*, 2015), whereas the study on sea cucumber saponins is still rare (Kim and Himaya, 2012). The studies of sea cucumber saponins focused on a small part of cosmetic ingredient activities (antioxidant, antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory).

1.8.1. Cosmetics

Cosmetics have become an important need for human beings because of the goodlooking concept. Good appearance is an important factor that influences human selfacceptance and socio-cultural relationship (Cipriani *et al.*, 2016). Cosmetics are any materials that have the ability to clean, fragrant, increase the appearance, protect and preserve varied surface parts of the human body including skin, hair, nails, lips and also teeth. It can be used by rubbing, pouring, spraying or sprinkling the material to the body (de Castro, 2011). The demand of the cosmetic industry been increased over the past decade. Based on financial analysis report by Eurostaf Company, this industry is worth US\$ 170 billion (Arora *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, Allied Market research is forecasting that by 2020, the industry would continually develop and would be worth US\$ 390 billion (Kerdudo *et al.*, 2016).

The new trends in the cosmetic industry are cosmeceuticals and nutricosmetics. Cosmeceuticals are the combination of cosmetic and pharmaceuticals, while nutricosmetics are cosmeceuticals in food form (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Cosmeceutical products contain substances that affect the biological process in the parts of the body by affording essential nutrients for the body surfaces. These nutrients can increase the appearance, sparkle and health of the body (Hyde *et al.*, 2010). Nutricosmetics are the newest development of skin care cosmetic products. Although has a similar purpose to improving the beauty of hair and skin, the application of the nutricosmetics is by eating the supplement (de Castro, 2011).

1.8.2. Skin aging

Many cosmetic products focus on skin protection. As the largest parts of the body, the skin prevents internal organs from environmental exposure as well as maintaining the depletion of water from the body (Kendall and Nicolaou, 2013). However, excessive exposure to the temperature, UV radiation, pollution, microbial and other external factors make the defense system in the skin weak and lead to changes in the skin structure. This phenomenon is known as skin aging (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Changes in hormonal secretions are an undeniable mechanism from internal factor related to aging that also affects skin aging. It has a similar effect pattern to other internal organs (Papakonstantinou *et al.*, 2012). UV radiation or photo aging agents, are reported especially as promoting photo-damage to the skin by changing the dermal extracellular matrix, resulting in wrinkles, weakening/roughening of the skin, spotted pigmentation of the skin, and thickening of the epidermal layer (Rittié and Fisher, 2002).

The mechanism of skin aging is related to the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2011, Leem, 2015, Tundis *et al.*, 2015). It is described in Figure 4. Solar radiation is caught by skin layers. Melanin, as an absorber pigment in the skin, cannot absorb the excessive UV radiation more than its capacity. In addition, the antioxidant defense system that has the capacity to reduce free radical and ROS will become overwhelmed with a high level of UV. As a result, cellular components such as proteins, lipids, DNA and mitochondria are damaged (Pallela *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, accumulation of ROS generates activator protein-1 (AP-1) that is a transcription factor for collagen degradation by up regulating enzymes matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Overproductions of MMP-1, MPP-3 and MPP-9 lead to increased collagen breakdown (Leem, 2015). UV irradiation also causes reduction of collagen synthesis by down regulation of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), which

is a cytokine for collagen production promoter (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Elastin and hyaluronic acid are other skin components that are influenced by ROS. It increases the production of elastase and hyaluroidase that promote elastin and hyaluronic acid degradation (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, the inhibitors of ROS, elastase, hyaluronidase, MMP enzymes can be potential cosmetic ingredients in the skin aging treatment (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 1.4. Mechanism of skin aging by UV radiation (+, increase; -, decrease). UV radiation induces ROS that damages lipids, DNA and mitochondria. It also up regulates MMPs via AP-1 resulting collagen degradation. In addition, ROS down regulates TGF-β, which is collagen production promoter. ROS also increases the levels of elastase and hyaluronidase that breakdown elastin and hyaluronic acid. The overall result changes in skin structures (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2011).

1.8.3. Comparison of sea cucumber and ginseng saponins as cosmeceutical ingredients

The potency of cosmeceutical ingredients can be classified into several different activities. Those include skin whitening, MMP inhibition; anti-hyaluronidase, anti-tyrosinase, anti-collagenase, anti-elastase, UV and photo oxidative protection, antioxidant, anti-microbial, anti-inflammatory, anti-skin cancer and moisturizing and pigment agents (Wijesinghe and Jeon, 2011, Wang *et al.*, 2015, Sanjeewa *et al.*, 2016, Taofiq *et al.*, 2016).

1.8.3.1. Anti-tyrosinase /Skin whitening

The skin's color is determined by melanin production. Melanin also protects skin from UV radiation, scavenging toxic drugs and chemicals (Sanjeewa *et al.*, 2016). Overexposure to UV radiation produces an over generation of melanin in the skin, because of increasing tyrosinase activity. Tyrosinase converts tyrosine to eumelanin (brown-black pigment) (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Ginseng saponins type ginsenoside F1 is reported to reduce up to 70% production of melanin in B16 melanoma cells (Yoo *et al.*, 2011). In addition, picrionoside A from ginseng leaves have been reported to have antimelanogenic effects (Lee *et al.*, 2015). No such activity is yet to be reported in saponins from sea cucumbers. The activity is reported from glycoprotein fraction of sea cucumber byproducts in the dried cucumber production process (Kim *et al.*, 2016).

1.8.3.2. MMPs inhibitor

MMPs (matrix metalloproteinases) are essential enzymes in the cellular process. they are involved in wrinkled skin formation by degrading collagen in the skin (Sanjeewa *et al.*, 2016). Jung *et al.* (2006) described that ginseng saponins had the ability to suppress

MMP-9 through inhibition of the activator protein-1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling mechanism. Furthermore, the supernatant of cells culture contained 20(R)-ginsenoside Rg3 from ginseng root was found contain less MMP-2 and MMP-9 concentration compared with control (Yue *et al.*, 2006). Sea cucumber saponins also have the ability to inhibit MPPs. The sea cucumber *Pearsonothuria graeffei* was reported to contain Ds-echinoside A, a triterpene glycoside that exhibits inhibition of MPP-9 expression (Zhao *et al.*, 2011).

1.8.3.3. Pro collagen and elastin production

Collagen and elastin are crucial elements of the skin and contribute to its elasticity, flexibility and strength. During the process of aging and UV exposure, the collagen and elastin levels decrease and result in the formation of wrinkles (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, increasing the production of collagen and elastin and suppressing collagenase and elastase can inhibit wrinkle formation in the skin. Lee *et al.* (2007) and Song *et al.* (2012) reported that ginsenosides from ginseng increased type I collagen production. Furthermore, Meybeck *et al.* discovered that ginsenoside stimulated elastin synthesis (Meybeck *et al.*, 1998). However, the functionality of saponins from sea cucumber in relation to stimulating collagen and elastin production has not been reported yet.

1.8.3.4. Anti-hyaluronidase

Hyaluronic acid is an important skin component besides collagen and elastin, which has roles as a skin rejuvenant, holding moisture, increasing viscosity and reducing the permeability of extracellular fluid (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). GinsenosideRH1 from *Panax ginseng* was known to have anti-hyaluronidase activity since it inhibited the activation

of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and NF-kB in RAW 264.7 cells (Park *et al.*, 2004).

1.8.3.5. UV protection

As mentioned above, UV radiation is one of the main causes of skin aging, which is also known as photo aging (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Total saponins and ginsenoside Rb from red ginseng were identified to reduce skin thickness and wrinkle formation induced by UVB exposure via collagen production and/or the inhibition of MPPs (Kim *et al.*, 2009). While no report from sea cucumber saponins is found; Sea cucumber glycosides, however, exhibited fix effect on mouse after radiation by increasing karyocytes of femoral bones and spleen cells (Aminin, 2016).

1.8.3.6. Antioxidant

All reactions in the cells produce free electrons known as free radicals and lead to the generation of ROS, reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and reactive sulfur species (RSS). Cells have a balanced mechanism of combating ROS called antioxidants, overproduction of ROS however cannot be overcome by this mechanism. Therefore, the body needs outer sources of antioxidants (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Both ginseng and sea cucumber saponins were reported to have antioxidant activities. Chen *et al.* (2009) found that ginsenosides had scavenging activity against 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical agent, while Husni *et al.* (2009) described that saponins from water extracts of body wall of sea cucumbers had scavenging activity against DPPH and 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6- sulfonic acid) radical cation (ABTS+).

1.8.3.7. Anti-microbial

Skin is a common habitat for microorganisms. The diversity and abundance of microbes in the skin depend on the age of individual and other environmental factors. Increasing the abundance of *Staphylococcus aureus* can lead to atopic dermatitis, which is a common skin disease (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Various studies have reported antimicrobial properties of saponins from ginseng and sea cucumbers. Studies from Sung and (Sung and Lee, 2008) showed that a combination saponins and antibiotics had the synergistic or additive effect to the methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus areus* (MRSA). Kaswandi *et al.* (2000) examined the antibacterial activity of sea cucumber saponins.

1.8.3.8. Anti-inflammatory

Inflammation is the complex cellular reaction in response to harmful stimuli to the vascular tissue by eliminating the causes of injury and initiating the healing mechanism in the tissue. One of the inflammatory stimuli is oxidative stress since it activates nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) and AP-1 (Wijesinghe and Jeon, 2011). GinsenosideRH1 was reported to have an anti-inflammatory effect since it inhibited the activation of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and NF-kB in RAW 264.7 cells (Park *et al.*, 2004). Tissue fraction containing saponins from body wall of sea cucumber was also reported as useful for inflammation treatment in animal model assays (Collin, 1998).

The cosmeceutical activities of ginseng and sea cucumber saponins are summarized in Table 1.2. The saponins of ginseng have been more comprehensively studied than that of sea cucumbers.

Ingredients	Saponins	Saponins Sea	References
Activities	Ginseng	cucumber	
Skin whitening	\checkmark		Yoo <i>et al.</i> (2011)
			Lee et al. (2015)
			Kim et al. (2016)
MMPs inhibitor			Jung <i>et al.</i> (2006)
			Yue et al. (2006)
			Zhao <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Anti-hyaluronidase	\checkmark		Park et al. (2004)
Pro collagen			Lee et al. (2007)
production			Song <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Pro elastin			Meybeck <i>et al.</i> (1998)
production			
UV Protection	\checkmark		Kim et al. (2009)
Antioxidant			Chen <i>et al.</i> (2009)
			Husni et al. (2009)
Anti-inflammatory			Park <i>et al.</i> (2004)
			Collin (1998)
Antimicrobial			Sung and Lee (2008)
			Kaswandi et al. (2000)

Table 1.2. Summary of the cosmeceutical activity of ginseng and sea cucumber saponins ($\sqrt{}$ means the saponins activities have been reported)

1.9. Commercial cosmetics from sea cucumbers

Although there are few studies on the suitability of sea cucumber saponins for cosmetic purposes, many sea cucumbers based cosmetic products are currently available in the market. Skin N Sea Cucumber Mystery Cream is anti-wrinkle and whitening. The ingredient of the product is not explained (http://www.tradekorea.com). Haishen 80 Sea Cucumber Nutritive Fresh Cream is a hydrating moisturizer that claims to brighten skin and reduce the appearance of fine lines and wrinkles. This product contains 80% of sea cucumber extract (http://www.hikoreanfashion.com). Another product is Prime Youth Black Sea Cucumber Mask Sheet. All sea cucumber cosmetic products come from South Korea.

1.10. Aims and scope

The main purpose of this project is to determine the potential applications of sea cucumber extracts for skin care and cosmeceutical ingredients especially for antioxidant and anti-aging properties. The scope of the project includes:

- 1. Optimization of the extraction method of compounds from sea cucumbers.
- 2. Test the toxicity of these extracts by *in vitro* skin cell-based assays to establish the safe doses.
- 3. Screen the extracts for their functional characteristics, including antioxidant and 'anti-aging' actions (mainly on collagen stimulating assays).
- Chemical characterizations of the extracts include, saponins, sugars, phenolics, protein content and TLC profile.

1.11. Hypothesis

The hypothesis of this study is that the sea cucumber extracts have potential applications for anti-aging similar to saponins from ginseng. In addition, the different extraction processes and solvents will produce different characteristics of extract which influence the bioactivity of the extracts.

1.12. Research significanc

The study of the development of functional ingredients from sea cucumbers for cosmeceutical products is the first attempt to determine the potential application of sea cucumbers for increasing collagen production. As a successful result, this study may promote the potential application of sea cucumber for cosmetic products ingredients. This research completes the potential applications of sea cucumber not only for nutraceuticals and pharmaceuticals but also for cosmeceuticals. These varied applications will increase the sea cucumbers' demand which is mainly obtained from wild sources. Therefore, the conservation and aquaculture aspect of sea cucumber are also important factors that need to be considered.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Reagents

The reagents used in this study were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (USA) unless stated otherwise (Appendix 1). The chemicals were of analytical grade. Water used in this study was high purity Milli-Q grade from the Milli-Q® Academic system (Millipore, USA).

2.2. Sea cucumber sample

Dried *Holothuria atra* body wall was used in this study (Figure 2.1). The sample was collected from Chanel Island, North Territory, around 2011 from previous studies and kept at -20°C. *H. atra* is one of the commercial species from Australian water. The body wall of this species mainly used for *beche-de-mer*. Recent studies show that the body wall of *H. atra* extract contains bioactive compounds that have antioxidant and hepatoprotective activity (Esmat *et al.*, 2013). The dried samples were blended into powder using high speed blender (Blendtec classic 475, Blendtec, USA) and stored at -20°C before used.




Figure 2.1. (a) Dried *H. atra* body wall sample collected from Chanel Island, North Territory used in this study; (b) Under water image of *H. atra* (Purcell *et al.*, 2012b)

2.3. Extraction optimization procedures

Optimization of sea cucumber extracts was conducted at three different conditions, shaking at 22°C (room temperature), shaking at 60°C, and sonication at 22°C (Table 2.1). Two solvents, water and 70%EtOH (v/v) were used in the extraction process. The temperature at 22 and 60°C were chosen because they could compare the effectivity of the extraction processes between room temperature and high temperature conditions. In addition, it was reported that extraction using high temperature increased the yield of ginseng saponins (Yokozawa *et al.* 2004). The sea cucumber powder was extracted at the ratio 1:5 (w/v) for 30 min in 50 mL Falcone tubes. After 30 min extraction, the extract was centrifuged at 4.000 x g, 4°C for 10 min. The extractions were conducted four times and the supernatant was collected together. New solvent was added each extraction steps to eliminate the saturation level of solvent that will decrease the effectivity of extraction process. In the shaking at 22°C, the supernatant of each extraction was separated for determining the efficiency of extraction at each stage.

All extracts were dried using a freeze dryer (Virtis, USA), rotary evaporator (Rotavor R; Buchi Labortechnik AG, Switzerland) and centrivap concentrator (Labconco, USA). The water extracts were directly dried in the freeze dryer. 70%EtOH extracts were

concentrated by evaporating the ethanol in a rotary evaporator under vacuum (200 - 75 mba) at 45°C or centrivap concentrator for 8 – 9 h. Afterwards, the remaining solvents in the extracts were dried in the freeze dryer. The dried extracts were kept in -20°C until used. The yield of extracts from the sea cucumber powder was calculated as follows.

Equation 2.1

Extract yield (%)

 $=\frac{weight of dried extract}{weight of dried sea cucumber} x 100\%$

Table 2.1. Extraction optimization of sea cucumber

Types of extraction	Temperature	Shaking	Apparatus	
Shaking	22°C (room temperature)	90 rpm	Orbital Mixer Incubator	
			(Ratek, Australia)	
Shaking	60°C	90 rpm	Orbital Mixer Incubator	
			(Ratek, Australia)	
Sonication	22°C (room temperature)		Bransonic 12 (Emerson	
			Industrial Automation,	
			USA)	

2.4. Cytotoxicity of *H. atra* extracts

The cytotoxicity assay was conducted using the crystal violet method. There are various methods that have been used in the cytotoxicity assay including 3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H tetrazolium bromide (MTT), neutral red and crystal violet (Ishiyama *et al.*, 1996). The mechanisms of these methods are different. MTT assay is based on the activity of mitochondrial dehydrogenase of the cells to convert yellow MTT to purple formazan (Mosmann, 1983, Young *et al.*, 2005). While neutral red and crystal violet methods are primarily based on lysosome activity and staining of DNA-associated proteins, respectively. In the crystal violet assay, the

amount of dye taken by the cell monolayer can be quantified by a plate reader. Crystal violet assay is known as a simple method to obtain the relative density of cells. However, the staining of crystal violet dye to the DNA and the color that is formed are dependent on the pH of the solution (Vega-Avila and Pugsley, 2011). In addition, after the culture reaching confluence, the absorbance of the stained cells does not correspond to the viable cell numbers (Chiba *et al.*, 1998). In this study, the crystal violet assay was modified from Mosmann (1983) and used to determine the concentration of extracts that are non- toxic to CRL 2076 skin fibroblast cells by measuring the cell viability.

2.4.1. Cell line and cell culture

Cell line CRL 2076 was used in the anti-skin aging assays. CRL 2076 is adherent skin fibroblast cells. Skin fibroblast constructs dermal skin, which is responsible for skin aging process. This skin mainly consisted of skin proteins and matrixes. The cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATTC). ATCC-formulated Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was used to preserve or subculture the cells. Preparation of a complete growth medium was by adding 10% (v/v) Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (DKSH, Switzerland), 2.5 mL of 10,000 units/ mL Penicillin-Streptomycin Solution (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 5 mL of 200 mM L-glutamine solution (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) to make 500 mL IMDM medium. Every 6 to 8 d the cells were subcultured with change 50% of the medium every 3 to 4d.

Maintaining or subculturing the cells was conducted by aspirating the old medium and then washing with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) twice. In order to detach the cells from the flask, 1 mL of 0.25% (w/v) trypsin-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)

solution was used. The flask, then incubated for 5 min at 37°C in 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator (MCA-18AIC, Japan) and 5 mL of IMDM was added to neutralize the trypsin. The cells were then centrifuged at 153 x g for 5 min and the supernatant was aspirated after centrifugation. The cells were resuspended in 1 mL of IMDM before the cell count. For the cell count, 50 μ L of cell suspension was mixed with 50 μ L of trypan blue solution and 10 μ L of the mixture was transferred onto a hemocytometer. The number of viable cells (colorless) was recorded with the assistance of a microscope (Leitz, Germany) under 100x magnification. After calculating using Equation 2.2 and Equation 2.3, an appropriate volume of resuspended cells was added into 75 cm³ culture flasks containing cells density of 3 x 10⁵ cells. The prepared culture flask was then incubated at 37°C in a 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator for further use.

Equation 2.2

Cell concentration (cells/mL)

$$= \left(\frac{Total \ number \ of \ viable \ cells}{Total \ number \ of \ hemocytometer \ squares \ used}\right) \ x \ dilution \ factor \ x \ 10^4$$

Equation 2.3

Volume of cell suspension added into culture flask (mL)

 $= \frac{Sedling \ density}{Cells \ concentration}$

2.4.2. Standard curve

A concentration of skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076 ranging from 0 to 40,000 cells/ well was set up in the crystal violet assay. A cell stock with a density of 0.8×10^6 cells/mL was prepared and then 100 µL of the stock cells suspension was added into a well containing 100 µL IMDM to give a final concentration of 40,000 cells/well. Six

replicates were used for each cell density. A serial dilution was performed by transferring 100 μ L from the well with the highest density (40,000 cells/mL) to the next well. Therefore, cell densities of 40,000, 20,000, 10,000, 5,000, 2,500, 1,250 and 0 cells/mL were established for the standard curve. In order to avoid the evaporation of media, 100 μ L of PBS was added into the wells surrounding the cells. The plate was then incubated at 37°C in 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator for 24 h.

2.4.3. Treatment plates

A density of 10,000 cells/ well was used in the treatment plate. For this purpose, 100 μ L of 1 x 10⁵ cells/ mL was added into 96 well flat-bottom microplates. The cells were then incubated for 24 h at 37°C in 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator. Both water and 70%EtOH sea cucumber extracts from shaking at 60°C and sonication were used. The concentrations of the extracts were 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10 and 50 µg/mL and prepared using IMDM medium as a solvent. Included in the treatment were control solvents, which were 1% water and 1% ethanol in IMDM. Six replicates were set up for each concentration of extract and control. After 24 h incubation at 37°C in 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator, the medium from the plate was aspirated off and 100 µL of the diluted extract was introduced into the corresponding well. The plate was then incubated at 37°C in 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator for 48 and 72 h.

2.4.4. Crystal violet staining assay

After incubation for 24 (for standard curve), 48 and 72 h (for treatment), the cells were stained with crystal violet. This method is based on the binding of the dye to the DNA-associated proteins of the cells. The number of the dye binding is linear with the growth

or reduction rate of the cells (Ishiyama *et al.*, 1996). Briefly, the medium was aspirated off from each well before the staining step. Into each well, 50 μ L of 0.5% (w/v) crystal violet (0.5 g crystal violet dissolved in 100 mL of 50% (v/v) methanol) was added and incubated for 10 min. The dye was cleaned with RO water and then the plate was left to dry for 15 min to overnight at room temperature. The crystal violet was de-stained by adding 50 μ L of 33% (v/v) acetic acid to each well. The plate was left for another 10 min. The absorbance was read at wavelength of 570 nm with 630 nm as a reference wavelength (μ Quant, Bio-Tek Instruments, Inc., USA). Cell viability was determined using Equation 2.4.

Equation 2.4

Cell viability

 $= \frac{Treatment \ cells \ number}{Control \ cells \ number} \ x \ 100\%$

2.5. Anti-aging properties of *H. atra* extracts

Determination of anti-aging properties of *H. atra* extracts was conducted by analyzing the antioxidant activity of these extracts and the effects of these extracts on collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076.

2.5.1. Antioxidant properties

Antioxidant properties of sea cucumber extracts were analyzed using Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP). This assay is based on the ability of antioxidants to reduce electron transfer (Fe^{3+} to Fe^{2+}) in the presence of tripyridyltriazine (TPTZ) and form blue Fe^{2+} - TPTZ complex (Benzie and Strain, 1996). The advantages of FRAP assay are simple, rapid, inexpensive, and strong and does not require specialized equipment.

While, the disadvantages are Fe^{2+} , a well-known prooxidant can react with hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) to produce hydroxyl radical, which is the most harmful free radical found *in vivo*. In addition, FRAP assay also cannot detect molecules that action by radical quenching (H transfer), particularly thiols and proteins (Alam *et al.*, 2013).

The sea cucumber extracts were prepared in 10 mg/mL (w/v) concentration using MilliQ water. The stock reagents included 300 mM acetate buffer pH 3.6, 10 mM TPTZ (2, 4, 6- tris(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine) reagent in 40 mM HCl and 20 mM ferric chloride hexahydrate (FeCl₃.7H₂O). The fresh working solution was prepared by mixing 25 mL acetate buffer, 2.5 mL TPTZ solution, and 2.5 mL FeCl₃.7H₂O solution. The FRAP reagent was incubated for 10 min at 37°C before use. The extracts (10 μ L) and 30 μ L of milliQ water were reacted with 300 μ L of the FRAP solution for another 4 min at 37°C. The colored products (ferrous tris (2-pyridyl)-s-triazine complex) were then read at 593 nm (μ Quant Microplate Spectrophotometer, BioTek Instrument Inc., USA) against a blank consisting of 300 μ L of the FRAP, 10 μ L of sample solvent and 30 μ L of milliQ water. As a standard curve was used FeSO₄.7H₂O (0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1 mM). The results were expressed in mM equivalent FeSO₄.7H₂O /mg of extract using Equation 2.5.

Equation 2.5

FRAP value (mM FeSO₄.7H₂O equivalents/ mg extract)

$$= \left(\frac{absorbance \ at \ 593 \ nm}{slope}\right) / extract \ concentration$$

2.5.2. Collagen production

2.5.2.1. Treatment method

CRL 2076 skin fibroblast cells were trypsinised and resuspended in complete IMDM as previously described. Cells were incubated at a density of 4 x 10^4 cells/0.5 mL in a 24-well plate and incubated at 37°C in 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator for 24 h to allow the cells to attach to the plate surface. The safe doses of the extracts from cytotoxicity tests were chosen for this assay. The extracts were diluted with IMDM and then 0.5 mL of these extracts were added to the corresponding wells of a 24-well flat bottom plate to achieve the final concentration of treatment. The medium was aspirated off before adding the sea cucumber extracts. The plate was incubated for 72 h at the same condition as described previously. After incubation, the cell supernatant was pipetted out and centrifuged at 12.000 x g for 20 min at 4°C. The cell-free supernatants were then saved and stored at -80°C until used in the bioassay.

2.5.2.2. Collagen assay

Collagen assay quantifies collagen in culture medium released by skin fibroblast cells. The collagen concentration in the cells was reported not significantly compared to in the media (Biocolor, 2011). The soluble collagen in the medium then analyzed using Sircol TM Collagen Assay Kit (Biocolor, UK). This assay is based on a dye binding method that assesses the level of newly synthesized collagen production during cell growth and development. The method was based on the manufacture's protocol with some modifications. 50 µL of the sample was mixed with 500 µL of Sircol dye reagent and then shaken for 30 min. The mixture was centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 10 min and the supernatant was removed. The pellet was washed with 350 µL of ice-cold acid salt wash reagent and centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 10 min. The supernatant was removed

and 250 μ L of alkali reagent was added to the pellet and vortexed to detach the dye from collagen. The solution was then left at room temperature for 10 min to allow the dye dissolved. The effect of sea cucumber treatment to the collagen release was measured at 540 nm. A standard curve from rat tail acid-soluble collagen type II with concentrations 0, 15.63, 31.25, 62.5, 125, 250 and 500 μ g/mL was used as a standard. Collagen concentration was calculated using Equation 2.6 and expressed as μ g/mL. A negative control (media treatment) was used as a blank to normalize the concentration of all treatment samples (Equation 2.7).

Equation 2.6

Soluble collagen concentration (µg/mL)

 $=\frac{Absorbance\ at\ 540}{Slope}$

Equation 2.7

Soluble collagen concentration of treatment (CT) (μ g/mL)

= (CS - CM) - (CE - CM)

CT: soluble collagen concentration of treatment CS: soluble collagen concentration of sample CE: soluble collagen concentration of extract CM: soluble collagen concentration of media

2.6. Chemical characterisation of *H. atra* extracts

2.6.1. Saponins content

The estimation of the saponins content of sea cucumber was conducted using vanillinsulfuric acid colorimetric test adopted from Bondoc *et al.* (2013) with some modifications. Saponins are oxidized by sulfuric acid and OH group at their C-3 position interact with vanillin to give chromogens. Another method is using a hemolytic assay. The principle of this method is releasing oxy-hemoglobin which gives measurable color from the reaction of saponins and blood reagent (Cheok *et al.*, 2014). The sulfuric acid-vanillin method has the limitation that it is not specific. Some compounds such as sterols and bile acids have a hydroxyl group in the 3-position and give chromophores when reacting with sulfuric acid and vanillin (Baccou *et al.*, 1977). Sea cucumber extracts were prepared in 10 mg/mL (w/v) concentration using MilliQ water. The samples (20 μ L) were added to 5% (w/v) vanillin in ethanol. The mixture then added with 500 μ L of 72% Sulfuric acid. The solution was incubated at 60°C in a dry block heater (Ratex Instrument) for 10 min and cooled in cold water. Before reading absorbance at 540 nm (μ Quant Microplate Spectrophotometer), the solution was vortexed. A serial concentration of Quillaja bark saponins (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 mg/mL) was constructed for a standard curve. The saponin content was expressed as mg of Quillaja bark saponin equivalents per mg of extract and mg of Quillaja bark saponin equivalents per gram of dried sea cucumber using Equation 2.8 and Equation 2.9 equations respectively.

Equation 2.8.

Total saponin content (mg Quillaja bark saponin equivalents/ mg extract)

$$= \left(\frac{absorbance \ at \ 540 \ nm}{slope}\right) / exract \ concentration$$

Equation 2.9.

Total saponin content (mg Quillaja bark saponin equivalents / gram dried sea cucumber)

= Total saponin content (mg/mg extract) X extract yield (%)

2.6.2. Sugars content

The sugars content of *H. atra* extracts was determined by Anthrone-Sulfuric acid method based on Hansen and Møller (1975) with some modifications. Sulfuric acid hydrolyzed and digested sugars in the sample. The product interacted with anthrone producing color. This method is easy to conduct, requires only 0.1 to 1 pmol amounts of sugar and gives accurate results in a narrow concentration range (5- to 10-fold). However, this method has a large variation in molar absorptivities for various sugars (Gerchakov and Hatcher, 1972). In addition, compared to HPLC method, sulfuric acid – the anthrone method gives a slightly higher number of sugars (Irick *et al.*, 1988).

Sea cucumber extracts were prepared in 0.5 mg/mL (w/v) concentration using MilliQ water. 0.5 mL of sample was reacted with 1 mL of 3% anthrone in sulfuric acid (w/v). The solution was incubated at 100°C for 5 min using oven (Conthervan) and cooled on ice for another 5 min. The absorbance was read at 620 nm (μ Quant Microplate Spectrophotometer) against a blank. A 0.25 mg/mL of D-Glucose was diluted to make a standard curve. The sugar concentration was expressed as mg D-Glucose equivalents per mg of extract using Equation 2.10.

Equation 2.10.

Sugar content (mg D-Glucose equivalents/ mg extract)

$$= \left(\frac{absorbance \ at \ 620 \ nm}{slope}\right) / extract \ concentration$$

2.6.3. Total phenolics content

The contents of total phenolics in sea cucumber extracts were analyzed based on Folin-Ciocalteu method described by (Singleton and Rossi, 1965) with some modifications. The Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent contains molybdenum and tungsten at oxidation state. However, in the presence of phenolic compounds, molybdenum and tungsten form a blue complex. The color strength is linearly correlated to the concentration of the phenolic compounds. The Follin assay is easy to conduct and produces consistent estimates of the phenolics within a sample. However, there are some limitations of this method. Folin reagents may be unsuitable to compare of phenolic samples from different sources because the absorbance of the reagents is influenced by structural variation of phenolics. In addition, the presence of inhibitor metabolites may affect the result (Appel *et al.*, 2001).

The sea cucumber extracts were prepared in 10 mg/mL (w/v) concentration using MilliQ water. 50 μ L of Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent and 1 mL of MilliQ water were added to 200 μ L of samples and mixed thoroughly. The mixture was incubated for 7 min at room temperature. To the mixture, 290 μ L of sodium carbonate (200 g/L) was added and allowed to stand for 1 h at room temperature to allow the reaction to complete. The absorbance of the mixture was read at 760 nm (μ Quant Microplate Spectrophotometer) against a blank. A standard curve was obtained using various concentrations of gallic acid (0, 0.01, 0.02, 0.03, 0.04, 0.05, 0.8 and 0.1 g/L). Results were expressed as microgram (μ g) of gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per mg of extract using Equation 2.11. To determine whether the total phenolics concentration and antioxidant capacity of sea cucumber extract have a relationship, the value of both properties was analyzed using regression method. One way ANOVA was used to determine significance level of this correlation.

Equation 2.11.

Total phenolics concentration (µg GAE/ mg extract)

$$=\frac{\left(\frac{absorbance\ at\ 760\ nm}{slope}\right)X\ 1000}{extract\ concentration}$$

2.6.4. Soluble protein

The total soluble protein in the sea cucumber extracts was analyzed using DC Protein Assay (BioRad, USA). This method is adopted from Lowry assay with some modifications to reduce the time of analysis. This method combines the reactions of peptide bonds and copper ions under alkaline environment to produce Cu+, which further react with Folin–Ciocalteu reagent (a mixture of phosphotungstic acid and phosphomolybdic acid in the Folin–Ciocalteu reaction) (Lowry et al., 1951). The protocol followed the manufactures instruction using Microplate Assay Protocol. Sea cucumber extracts were prepared at 10 mg/mL (w/v) concentration using MilliQ water. 5 μ L of the sample was pipetted into 96-well microplates.25 μ L of reagent A (an alkaline copper tartrate solution) and 200 μ L of reagent B (a dilute Folin Reagent) were added to the sample. The plate was gently agitated to mix the reagents and left for 15 min. The absorbance was read at 750 nm (μ Quant Microplate Spectrophotometer). A serial dilution (0 – 1.4 mg/mL) of Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) was used as a standard curve. The soluble protein was expressed in mg per mg extract using Equation 2.12.

Equation 2.12.

The soluble protein yield (mg/mL) per extract

$$= \left(\frac{absorbance \ at \ 750 \ nm}{slope}\right) / extract \ concentration$$

2.6.5. Thin-layer Chromatography (TLC) analysis

The fingerprinting of *H. atra* body wall extract was analyzed using TLC. TLC is a chromatographic method used to separate compounds from the mixture using a thin stationary phase and mobile phase. Mixed compounds will separate based on different affinities of compounds to the stationary and mobile phases. The different compounds

will move at different speeds. *H. atra* extracts were dissolved in 90% methanol at concentration of 50 mg/mL. A silica gel 60 F254 aluminium sheets (Merck #1.05554.0001) was used as a stationary phase. Fifteen microliters of the extract were loaded to the plate and developed using lower phase of chloroform: methanol: water (7: 13: 8) mobile phase system. The separated compounds were observed with UV light at 254 and 365 nm. The TLC plate was further stained using iodine vapor method (Wang and Benning, 2011). The TLC plate was put into sealed box container. A 250 mg of iodine was put in the container and left for approximately 20 min to let the iodine saturate and develope color in the plate. The Retention factor (Rf) of each compound was calculated using

Equation 2.13.

Equation 2.13.

 $Rf = \frac{Movement \ distance \ of \ compound}{Movement \ distance \ of \ solvent}$

2.7. Correlation between chemical characteristics of extract and collagen production

The correlation between chemical profiles of extract and the increasing of collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076 was analyzed using a regression test and the significance level was found using one-way ANOVA. Four samples (shaking at 60°C and sonication at 22°C for both water and 70%EtOH extracts) were tested. The value of each extract's chemical characters including saponins, sugar, protein, phenolics and antioxidant content were transformed from extract treatment concentration (2.5 mg/L). The correlation coefficient (R^2) and the significant number (p) were described.

2.8. Statistical analysis

All measurements and analysis were conducted for at least three independent experiments except extraction optimization with only one independent experiment with three replicates. The results were averaged and presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Statistical analysis was performed with IBM SPSS 22 software. Significance variables were calculated using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test with a significance level 95% (*p*<0.05). The correlation analysis was measured with regression test.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1. Extraction optimization of *H. atra*

The efficiency of each extraction stage was analyzed for the shaking at 22°C. The yield of extract of each extraction stage was measured and shown in Figure 3.1. At first extraction, the water solvent produced $7.58\pm0.18\%$ extract yield, while the 70%EtOH produced10.88±0.23%. At the second extraction, water and 70%EtOH solvents gained $11.37\pm0.37\%$ and $5.23\pm0.17\%$ yield respectively. While, the third extraction took out $5.42\pm0.09\%$ of yield for water and $2.75\pm0.07\%$ of yield for 70%EtOH. The last extraction only produced below 2% for both solvents. The total extract yield of water and ethanol 79% were 26.36 ± 0.15 and $19.81\pm0.21\%$, respectively. The extracts of shaking at 60°C and sonication at 22° C were collected together from the four extraction stages.



Figure 3.1. *H. atra* body wall extract yields from each stage of extraction of four sequence extractions in the shaking at 22°C. The sea cucumber powder was extracted at a ratio of 1:5 (w/v) for 30 min at 90 rpm. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD (*n*=3). Values are calculated based on the dry weight of extract compared to dry weight of body wall multiplied by 100.

The yield of *H. atra* extract was different, depending on the types of extractions and the solvents (Figure 3.2). Generally, water extracts produced a higher yield compared to 70%EtOH extracts and this was significantly different (p<0.05). The yields are between 26±15% to 29±2.93% and 19±0.21% to 24±1.91% for water and 70%EtOH respectively. The yield of water extract was not significantly different between all extract conditions. The 70%EtOH extract yield from shaking at 60°C (24.10±1.57%), was however, significantly different (p<0.05) compare to shaking at 22°C and sonication. The two higher extract yield (shaking at 60°C and sonication 22°C) for both water and 70%EtOH extracts were further analyzed for cytotoxicity against human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076.



Figure 3.2. *H. atra* body wall extract yields from different extraction conditions and solvents. The sea cucumber powder was extracted at a ratio of 1:5 (w/v) for 30 min of each cycle extraction from a total of four extractions. Shaking extraction was conducted at 90 rpm and sonication with continuous sonication. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD (*n*=3). Values are calculated based on the dry weight of extract compared to dry weight of body wall multiplied by 100. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at *p*< 0.05.

3.2. Cytotoxicity of *H. atra* extracts

Ingredients of cosmeceutical products should have no toxicity to the skin, therefore the cytotoxicity of sea cucumber extracts was analyzed against normal skin cells. Serial concentrations of extract from 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10 and 50 mg/L were tested. The results are presented in Figure 3.3. The cytotoxicity of *H. atra* extracts was different depending on the extract conditions and solvents. The water extract of shaking at 60°C had no significant effect on the skin fibroblast cells up to 10 mg/L in both 48 and 72 h incubation (Figure 3.3a), while the 70%EtOH extract was up to 7.5 mg/L at 48 h and 5 mg/L at 72h (Figure 3.3b). A different result was obtained from sonication extracts. The water extract did not significantly inhibit the cells up to 7.5 mg/L. However at a concentration of10 mg/L, the extracts inhibited 20% and 30% of cells for 48 and 72h respectively (Figure 3.3c). Whereas, the 70%EtOH extract significantly reduced the fibroblast cells at 5 mg/L (Figure 3.3d). All solvent controls (1% water and 1% ethanol in IMDM media) did not have an effect on the skin fibroblast cells. The non-toxic concentration (2.5 mg/L) from all extracts was chosen to study anti-aging properties especially the collagen production.









Figure 3.3. Cytotoxicity of *H. atra extracts* against human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076. (a) Water extract of shaking at 60°C; (b) 70%EtOH extract of shaking at 60°C; (c) Water extract of sonication at 22°C; (d) 70%EtOH extract of sonication at 22°C. The concentrations of *H. atra* extracts were from 0 to 50 mg/L. 1% water or 1% ethanol were used as solvent controls for each extract. The cells were stained using crystal violet assay. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Cell viability was calculated based on cell number of extract treatment compared to the cell number of media control (0 mg/L treatment concentration) multiplied by 100. * *p*<0.05 compared to the control.

3.3. Anti-aging properties of *H. atra* extracts

Two different anti-aging properties of *H. atra* extracts were analyzed. Those properties are antioxidant activity and effect of extracts on the collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells.

3.3.1. Antioxidant properties

The antioxidant potential of *H. atra* extracts from all extraction conditions was compared. As is shown in Figure 3.4, overall water extracts had a significantly greater antioxidant potential than 70%EtOH extracts (p<0.05). Water extracts have antioxidant properties from 0.020±0.001 to 0.025±0.002 mM eq. FeSO₄.7H₂O/ mg extract while 70%EtOH extracts from 0.014±0.001 to 0.019±0.002 mM eq. FeSO₄.7H₂O/ mg extract. In the aqueous extract, the different extraction processes produced similar antioxidant

properties. While in 70%EtOH solvent, extracts of sonication $(0.019\pm0.002 \text{ mM eq.}$ FeSO₄.7H₂O/ mg extracts) were significantly different compared to shaking at 22°C (*p*<0.05) but not to shaking at 60°C and had the highest antioxidant potential among other ethanol extracts.



Figure 3.4. Antioxidant Activity of *H. atra* body wall extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents using FRAP assay. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at *p*<0.05.

3.3.2. Effect of *H. atra* extracts on collagen production in skin fibroblast cell CRL 2076

H. atra extracts that were shaken at 60°C and sonicated at 22°C increased the collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076 (Figure 3.5). Water and 70%EtOH extracts from shaking at 60°C at 2.5 mg/L had a similar effect in enhancing the collagen production of cells. Both significantly enhanced (p<0.01) the collagen production of cells to 103.8±21.9 and 101.8±19.1 µg/mL respectively. Sonication extracts had a different effect on the collagen production. The sonication water extract increased production of collagen to 32.5±10.4 µg/mL, however, it was considered not significant compared to the control (28.3 \pm 7.3). Whereas, treatment of the sonication 70%EtOH extract to skin fibroblast cell significantly accelerated (*p*<0.01) the collagen production to 105.4 \pm 10.1 µg/mL.



Figure 3.5. Effect of *H. atra extracts* to the collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076. The treatment concentration was 2.5 mg/L. Skin fibroblast cells culture without treatment were used as a control. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from four independent experiments. ****p*<0.001 compared to the control.

3.4. Chemical characteristic of *H. atra* extracts

3.4.1. Saponins content

The saponins content of *H. atra* extracts were varied in response to the different extraction conditions and solvents, varying from 0.16 ± 0.02 to 0.22 ± 0.01 mg eq. plant saponins/ mg extract (Figure 3.6a). Shaking at 22°C and at 60°C produced similar saponins in water and 70%EtOH extract. Whereas, in sonication at 22°C, 70%EtOH extract (0.22 ± 0.01 mg eq. plant saponins/ mg extract) contained significantly more saponins than in water extract (0.17 ± 0.01 mg eq. plant saponins/ mg extract) (p<0.05). In addition, 70%EtOH extract from sonication was the highest saponins content and significantly different compared to 70%EtOH extract from shaking at 22°C (p<0.05).

The total saponins number per body wall weight was similar for all extraction conditions, except 70%EtOH from shaking at 22°C (Figure 3.6b). The number was from 0.046±0.002 to 0.053±0.004 mg/mg dried body wall and 0.031±0.003 mg/mg dried body wall for 70%EtOH from shaking at 22°C. It was a significantly lower compared to other extracts (p<0.05).



Figure 3.6. Total saponins content of *H. atra* body wall extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents using vanillin-sulfuric acid method. (a) Total saponins per mg extract and (b) Total saponins per mg dried body wall. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at p < 0.05.

The sugars content of various *H. atra* extracts were analyzed. As shown in the Figure 3.7, generally the values were similar $(0.062\pm0.008 - 0.091\pm0.009 \text{ mg eq. D-Glucose/} \text{ mg extract})$. Different extraction conditions and solvents did not significantly influence the sugar content of the extracts. Shaking at 60°C extracts contain 0.062±0.008 and 0.067±0.007 mg eq. D-Glucose/ mg extract for water and 70%EtOH respectively. While, shaking at 22°C extracts contain 0.081±0.003 and 0.091±0.009 mg eq. D-Glucose/ mg extract water and 70%EtOH respectively.



Figure 3.7. Sugars content of *H. atra* body wall extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents using anthrone-sulfuric acid method. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at *p*< 0.05.

3.4.3. Total phenolics content

The total phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts from various extraction conditions was measured, and the results are shown in Figure 3.8. The average values of the total phenolics in extracts varied from 2.14 ± 0.20 to 4.99 ± 0.54 µg GAE/mg of extract, depending on solvents and extraction conditions. There was a significant difference of

the phenolics content between aqueous $(3.60\pm0.44 \ \mu\text{g} - 4.99\pm0.54 \ \mu\text{g} \text{GAE/mg} \text{ of} \text{extract})$ and organic extracts $(1.55\pm0.34 - 2.14\pm0.20 \ \mu\text{g} \text{GAE/mg} \text{ of} \text{extract}) (p<0.05)$ in all different conditions. However, the types of extraction processes did not significantly affect the total phenolics content in both solvents. Shaking at 22°C contained phenolics 4.99±0.54 and 2.14±0.2 $\mu\text{g} \text{GAE/mg}$ of extract for water and 70%EtOH solvents respectively. While, shaking at 60°C contained 3.60±0.44 and 1.55±0.29 $\mu\text{g} \text{GAE/mg}$ extract respectively.



Figure 3.8. Total phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents using Folin-Ciocalteu method. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at *p*<0.05.

3.4.4. Soluble protein

Soluble protein from different extraction methods is presented in Figure 3.9. Water extracts show significantly higher protein $(0.109\pm0.011 - 0.122\pm0.014 \text{ mg/ mg extract})$ than ethanol extract $(0.033\pm0.004 - 0.036\pm0.007 \text{ mg/ mg extract})$ with *p*<0.05. The

different extraction conditions, however, did not significantly affect the soluble protein of *H. atra* extracts in both water and 70%EtOH solvents.



Figure 3.9. Protein content of *H. atra* extracts from different extraction conditions and solvents. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Values in the same solvent with different letters are significantly different at p < 0.05.

3.4.5. TLC analysis of active extracts

Fingerprinting analysis of *H. atra* extract using TLC revealed slightly different compounds between each extract (Figure 3.10 and Table 3.1). A total 13 compounds were observed. Most of the compounds were observed in UV 254 nm after staining with iodine (Figure 3.10a), while only small number compounds were observed in UV 365 nm (Figure 3.10b). 70%EtOH extracts from both shaking at 60°C (line 3) and sonication at 22°C (line 5) produced more compounds compare water extracts (line 2 and 4) with 11 and 10 out of 13 compounds respectively. Although they had similar compounds, sonication water extract (line 4) had less intensity in compound number 10 to 13 compared to compounds from shaking at 60°C water extract (line 2). 70%EtOH of both extracts (sonication and shaking at 60°C) have similar numbers, however, some

of the compounds have different retention time (Rf). 70%EtOH extract from shaking at 60°C (line 3) have compounds with Rf 0.22 and 0.52, while from sonication (line 5) have compounds with 0.45 and 0.58. The other compounds were similar to each other. Plant saponins (line 1) as a sample comparison did not show separated compounds both in UV and iodine staining.



Figure 3.10. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) analysis of *H. atra* extract. (a) Observed using UV 254 nm; (b) Observed using UV 365 nm and (c) staining with iodine. Samples were dissolved using 90% methanol at concentration 50 mg/mL and running using the lower phase of CHCl₃-MeOH-H₂O (7:13:8) system. 1: Plant saponins; 2: Shaking 60°C water extract; 3: Shaking 60°C 70%EtOH extract; 4: Sonication at 22°C water extract and 5: Sonication at 22°C 70%EtOH extract

Table 3.1. The retention time of *H. atra* extract compounds from TLC analysis. 2: Shaking 60°C water extract; 3: Shaking 60°C 70%EtOH extract; 4: Sonication at 22°C water extract and 5: Sonication at 22°C 70%EtOH extract. (-) compound not found in the extract (+) compound found in the extract with different intensity.

Compound	Rf	Samples			
		2	3	4	5
1	0.06	++	++	++	++
2	0.10	++	++	++	++
3	0.14	++	++	++	++
4	0.16	++	++	++	++
5	0.22	++	++	++	-
6	0.29	-	+	-	+
7	0.45	-	-	-	+
8	0.52	-	+++	-	-
9	0.58	-	-	-	+++
10	0.73	++	++	+	++
11	0.84	++	++	+	++
12	0.90	++	++	+	++
13	0.94	++	++	+	++

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

4.1. Water extraction produced higher yield compared to 70% EtOH extraction

Water and 70%EtOH were applied to extract compounds from the body wall of *H. atria.* The type of solvent is one of the important factors that influences the effectiveness of the extraction. The different polarity of solvents produce different secondary metabolites and bioactivity of the compounds (Cos *et al.*, 2006). In terms of saponins extraction, alcohol (methanol, ethanol), water or a mixture of them is the most common solvent extraction. Other solvents also have been used to extract saponins such as alcoholic surfactant solutions, glycerine and glycyrrhizic acid solvent plus ammonia (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007).

Water and ethanol were used in this study because they are known as non-toxic or generally recognized as safe (GRAS) solvents for extracting bioactive compounds for human application purposes (Husni *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, water and ethanol are considered as green solvents (Byrne *et al.*, 2016). Green solvents are solvents that have minimal impact on the environment, health and safety (EHS) when used in the chemical production (Capello *et al.*, 2007), including the net cumulative energy demand (CED) level of the solvent production. Furthermore, water and ethanol are also categorized as bio-based solvents because they are renewably sourced and produced from biomass on a large scale (Byrne *et al.*, 2016).

The efficiency of each extraction processes in the shaking at 22°C was analyzed. Each extraction stage produced a different percentage of yield (Figure 3.1). In the first extraction, water produced less yield compared to the second extraction, while the yield from ethanol was higher in the first extraction. In the first extraction, most of the water

was absorbed by the *H. atra* powder, thus the volume of the supernatant after centrifugation was less than 5% (v/w). In contrast, 70%EtOH was absorbed, but after centrifugation the volume of the supernatant was similar from the initial solvent (5%). These results indicate that water was absorbed more by the sample than the ethanol. After the second extraction, water and 70%EtOH produced more than 70% and 80% of the total yield respectively. While, the last extraction only produced below 10% of total yield for both solvents. These results demonstrate that two stages of extractions were considered effective to produce extracts from sea cucumbers. Therefore, to reduce the time and energy, for further extraction processes (different sea cucumber species), the extraction process was only done until the second cycle with the similar total ratio of solvent (1: 20).

Water extracts produced more yield compared to 70%EtOH (Figure 3.2). The yields of *H. atra* extract were between 26 to 29% for water and 19% to 24% for 70%EtOH. This indicates that particles in the body wall of *H. atra* are more soluble in water than in 70%EtOH. This result was similar with the previous result from (Althunibat *et al.*, 2009). They reported that aqueous extracts of body wall *H. scabra, H. leucospilota and Stichopus chloronotus* (4.03%, 4.29% and 5.25% respectively) were significantly higher than organic extracts (0.25%, 0.25% and 0.17% respectively). In addition, the extract yield of organic solvent in this study (19 - 24%) was similar to result from Nobsathian *et al.* (2017). They stated that using methanol to extract dried body wall of *H. atra* produced 19.74% of yield. Another study, however, showed that water and 70%EtOH-soluble matters extracted from the body wall of sea cucumber (*S. japonicus*) using heat reflux extraction and pressurized solvent extraction were not significantly different (Husni *et al.*, 2009). The differences may be because of different sample and extraction process that were used.

Shaking at 60°C produced more yield in the 70%EtOH extract compared to shaking and sonication at 22°C. Increasing temperature to a certain degree was reported to enhance the efficiency of the extraction by increasing the solubility of the material and the diffusion coefficient of solvent (Spigno *et al.*, 2007). Increasing extract yield of mushroom *Inonotus obliquus* was obtained by increasing the temperature of extraction (Hu *et al.*, 2009). Similarly, sonication improved the efficiency of extraction process by increasing the rate of mass transfer and the penetration of solvent. In addition, sonication can also break biological cell walls, providing a way to release the content (Wang and Weller, 2006, Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007). However, in this study, sonication did not significantly increased the yield of extract in both solvents. This may be because of the different sample and sonication type that were used. Considering these result, this study was limited by the low replicate number in the experiment, which was only one experiment with three replicates. This was due to the limited number of *H. atra* samples available.

4.2. Different cytotoxicity effects of *H. atra* extracts prepared by different extraction conditions and solvents

Cytotoxicity assays are a common method to analyze the sensitivity of compounds to the living cells (Ishiyama *et al.*, 1996). They are performed either to discover the highest activity of the compounds in the drugs discovery or to determine the side effect of the compounds to the cells. In this study, the cytotoxicity assay was to determine the safe dosage of the extract that will be applied to the skin cell and used crystal violet staining assay.

The cytotoxicity of *H. atra* extracts against human skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076 were different depending on the extraction conditions and solvents (Figure 3.3). EtOH

(70%) extracts from shaking at 60°C and sonication at 22°C reduced the viability of skin fibroblast cells up to 40% at concentration 7.5 and 5 mg/L respectively. While, water extracts were inhibited at concentration 50 and 10 mg/L respectively. At these concentrations, the extracts were considered toxic. López-García *et al.* (2014) divided the level of cytotoxicity to non-cytotoxicity (cell viability above 80%), weak (80%-60%), moderate (60% - 40%) and strong (below 40%).

These results demonstrate that 70%EtOH extract were more toxic than water extract. In addition, shaking at 60°C produced less toxic extract compared to sonication in both water and 70%EtOH solvents. The different effect of these extracts may be because different extraction conditions and solvents produced a different composition of compounds. All the extracts, however, showed no significant effect on the growth of skin fibroblast cells at treatment concentration 2.5 mg/L, therefore, this concentration is considered as a safe dosage and used for treating the collagen production assay.

4.3. Saponin and sugar contents of *H. atra* extracts have the highest correlation number to the cytotoxicity of human skin fibroblast cells

In order to understand which chemical characters have a responsibility to cytotoxicity of human skin fibroblast cells, each chemical property was analyzed the correlation using regression method. The significance (p<0.05) and correlation coefficient (R^2) numbers were observed. The results are shown in Table 4.1 the correlation graphs are in Appendix 9.

Table 4.1. Correlation between chemical characteristics of extract and cell viability of human skin fibroblast cells. The correlation analysis was conducted using a regression test and the significance level was found using one-way ANOVA with n = 20.

Chemical characteristic	Slope	Correlation	Significance
Saponins content	y = -8.2686x + 91.084	$R^2 = 0.44387$	<i>p</i> = 0.001
Sugar content	y = -22.57x + 91.143	$R^2 = 0.45116$	<i>p</i> = 0.001
Protein content	y = -11.173x + 79.577	$R^2 = 0.17722$	<i>p</i> = 0.065
Total phenolic content	y = -0.3674x + 82.127	$R^2 = 0.22712$	<i>p</i> = 0.034
Antioxidant properties	y = -68.858x + 88.603	$R^2 = 0.36407$	<i>p</i> = 0.005

Based on the correlation between chemical profiles and viability of *H. atria* extracts, saponin and sugar contents of the extracts have the highest correlation number and significance effect to viability of skin fibroblast cells CRL 2076. Both of them have a low negative correlation with $R^2 = 0.44$ and 0.45 respectively (Mukaka, 2012). Increasing saponin and sugar contents was inversely correlated with the cell viability effect of the H. atra extracts. Saponins are known have membranotropic effects against cellular and model membranes, resulting in saponins have a wide spectrum of biological activities. The saponins and Δ^5 and $\Delta^{5,7}$ -sterols in the organism membrane form single ion channels and large channels. This mechanism allows the increase of microviscosity and suppression of transport processes in the membranes (Augustin et al., 2011). In addition, saponins have 18(20)-lactone, oxygen functional group, linear tetrasaccharide fragment, quinovose as the second monosaccharide and 3-Omethyl group that have key roles in the membranotropic activity (Kalinin et al., 2008). Furthermore, saponins have different mechanisms in the anticancer treatment, including inducement of apoptosis, stimulation of non-apoptotic cell death, autophagy, inhibition of angiogenesis, the disintegration of the cytoskeleton, inhibition of metastasis (Tian et al., 2013).

The cytotoxicity of sea cucumber extracts against skin fibroblast cells has had little study. Most research has focused on cancer cells. One study reported that glycoprotein fractions from the liquid extracts of boiled Korean sea cucumber *Stichopus japonicas* were non-toxic up to 5 mg/mL on the mouse melanoma cell line B16-F10 (Kim *et al.*, 2016). This result was different compared to this study which had non-toxic concentrations between 2.5 - 10 mg/L. The differences may be because of the type of sea cucumber species, extracts preparation and the cells line. A study of *H. atra* extracts against cancer cells HeLa and MCF-7 showed that at a concentration of 0.78 mg/L, the extract inhibited the viability of cells to 40.58 and 30.22% respectively (Dhinakaran and Lipton, 2014).

4.4. Anti-aging properties of *H. atra* extract

4.4.1. Low antioxidant properties of *H. atra* extract

Exposure to excessive sunlight causes excessive ROS production in the body. To neutralise the high level of ROS in the body, endogenous antioxidant sources are needed. Antioxidants protect the human body from further damage caused by ROS such as DNA damage, skin inflammation, hyper pigmentation, stimulation of dermal fibroblast for expression of matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MMP-1) responsible for collagen degradation and a decrease in collagen synthesis thus resulting in a photo-aged skin effect (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, antioxidants property is one of the important ingredients for skin aging products.

The antioxidant potential of sea cucumber has been widely reported (Zhong *et al.*, 2007, Husni *et al.*, 2009, Althunibat *et al.*, 2009) including from *H. atra* (Esmat *et al.*, 2013, Dhinakaran and Lipton, 2014). However, most of them were analysed using oxygen radical absorbance activity (ORAC) and 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH)

method (Zhong *et al.*, 2007, Esmat *et al.*, 2013, Dhinakaran and Lipton, 2014). While in this study was analysed using FRAP assay. FRAP measures the activity of antioxidant substances to decrease electron transfer (Fe^{3+} to Fe^{2+}) in the presence of TPTZ and form blue Fe^{2+} - TPTZ complex (Benzie and Strain, 1996).

In this study, water extracts of *H. atra* have significantly higher antioxidant properties compare to 70% EtOH (Figure 3.4), indicating that the antioxidant compounds in H. atra were more soluble in water than in 70%EtOH. Similar results were reported by Althunibat et al. (2009) who used DPPH assay to analyse antioxidant properties from three different sea cucumbers. In addition, 70%EtOH extracts of shaking at 60°C and sonication had higher antioxidant activity compared to shaking at room temperature. A study by Zong et al. showed that processing dried sea cucumber using rehydration at 65°C for 48 hours produced greater antioxidant activity than fresh sea cucumber, even though the differences were not significant. However, the increase of antioxidant properties in processed sea cucumber may be caused by losing weight during rehydration process rather than directly increase the antioxidant activity (Zhong *et al.*, 2007). In addition, sonication reported slightly improved antioxidant capacity of fucoidan from sea cucumber Isostichopus badionotus. Sonication treatment led to decrease the molecular weight of fucoidan without major destruction of the structure. The low molecular weight of fucoidants has higher antioxidant properties (Guo et al., 2014). A study of stability polyphenols and antioxidant activity of red grape, however, showed that grape treatment at temperature 60°C decreased the antioxidant yield around 4% compare to freeze drying treatment (Larrauri et al., 1997). The differences of the result may be because of the different sample and compound that extracted.

Antioxidant compounds in sea cucumbers are reported to protect the body from high levels of solar radiation and high oxygen from photosynthesis of algae symbionts.

These compounds came from their metabolites and exogenous sources such as food, including vitamins E, C, phenolic compounds and carotenoids (Zhong *et al.*, 2007). Sea cucumber has antioxidant potential; however, the value is lower than common antioxidant sources from plants. Using FRAP assay, green tea leaf has 3 mM/gram dried sample of antioxidant when extracted at 90°C for 15 minutes,100 times higher to the sea cumber extract in this study (0.03 mM/mg extract or 0.007 mM/ gram dried sample) (Langley-Evans, 2000). A similar result was reported by Mamelona *et al.* (2007). Using ORAC assay, extracts of sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* from water, organic solvent and a mixture of them have lower antioxidant properties compare to strong antioxidant from grape seeds (15 - 85x), grape skin (18 – 100x) and medicinal plant leaves (20 – 114x). The summary of comparison antioxidant activities in this study and other sources is presented in Table 4.2.

In this study, the low antioxidant properties also may be come from the long storage of sample as the sample was obtained in 2011. Puupponen-Pimiä *et al.* (2003) reported that in many cases long term freezing storage of vegetables reduced the antioxidant properties up to 20%. Another possibility of the antioxidant reduction was the extraction process. Some studies reported that extraction of the antioxidant compound was conducted in dark condition to minimize the effect of light oxidation on the destruction of the compounds (Mamelona *et al.*, 2007, Althunibat *et al.*, 2009). While in this study, the extraction process was in normal light conditions.
Species	Antioxidant properties	Method	References
Sea cucumbers			
Holothuria atra	0.03 mM of Fe ²⁺ equivalent/mg extract or	FRAP	This study
	0.007 mM of Fe^{2+} equivalent/ g DW		
Cucumaria frondosa	140- 800 µmol of Torlox equivalent/g DW	ORAC	Mamelona et al. (2007)
H. edulis	IC50 = 2.03 - 8.73	DPPH	Althunibat et al. (2013)
H. leucospilota	IC50 = 3.91 - 5.44	DPPH	Althunibat et al. (2009)
H. scabra	IC50 = >10	DPPH	Althunibat et al. (2009)
Stichopus chloronotus	IC50 = 2.13 - >10	DPPH	Althunibat et al. (2009)
S. horrens	3.2 - 6.8 µmol of Torlox equivalent/g DW	DPPH	Husni et al. (2009)
S. horrens	IC50 = >10	DPPH	Althunibat et al. (2013)
Tea			
Black tea (Camellia sinensis)	0.54 mg of Torlox Equivalent/g DW	DPPH	Atoui et al. (2005)
Green tea (Camellia sinensis)	0.57 mg of Torlox Equivalent/g DW	DPPH	Atoui et al. (2005)
Green tea	1.03 - 1.63 mM of Fe ²⁺ equivalent/ g DW	FRAP	Rusak et al. (2008)
White tea	$1.08 - 1.79 \text{ mM of Fe}^{2+}$ equivalent/ g DW	FRAP	Rusak et al. (2008)
Green tea	1.03 - 1.63 mM of Fe ²⁺ equivalent/ g DW	FRAP	Rusak et al. (2008)
Grape			
Black pearl grape	225.04 µM Torlox Equivalent/g DW	FRAP	Xu et al. (2010)
Purple	146.18 µM Torlox Equivalent/g DW	FRAP	Xu et al. (2010)
Green	4.95 μmol Fe ²⁺ equivalent/ g WW	FRAP	Fu et al. (2011)
Red	6.70 μmol Fe ²⁺ equivalent /g WW	FRAP	Fu et al. (2011)

Table 4.2. Comparison of antioxidant properties of *H. atra* and other antioxidant sources

DW: Dry weight WW: Wet weight

4.4.2. Negligible correlations between antioxidant properties and phenolic content of *H. atra* extract

A regression test was applied to determine whether the antioxidant activity and the phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts are correlated. The result is shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1. Correlation between total phenolics content and antioxidant properties of *H*. *atra* extracts. The correlation analysis was conducted using a regression test with n = 18.

There were weak correlations between antioxidant properties using the FRAP assay of the whole of extracts and their phenolics content. The level of correlation was negligible ($R^2 = 0.28133$) (Mukaka, 2012). This result demonstrated a weak contribution of phenolic compounds in antioxidant properties of *H. atra* extracts. This result is similar to studies of three Malaysian sea cucumbers where the correlation of antioxidant properties using DPPH and β-carotene bleaching methods and phenolic compounds were $R^2 = 0.31$ and 0.1 respectively (Althunibat *et al.*, 2009). They suggested that other compounds such as carotenoids, ascorbic acid, glutathione and gadusol may contribute to the antioxidant activity rather than phenolic compounds. However, a different result was obtained from the study of phenolic contents and antioxidant properties of the Atlantic sea cucumber, Cucumaria frondosa (Mamelona et al., 2007). The correlation of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity was different depending on the type of organs. Total phenolics of gonads and muscles had significant correlations to the ORAC values ($R^2 = 0.79$, p = 0.047 and $R^2 = 0.92$, p =0.042 respectively). Whereas, digestive tract and respiratory apparatus had a low correlation. They authors suggested that the variation of the result might be because of a difference in phenolic constituents between tissues. In addition, the contribution of individual phenols to anti-peroxyl radicals was varied among chemical species and depended upon their concentration (Mamelona *et al.*, 2007).

4.4.3. *H. atra* extracts significantly increased collagen production of human skin fibroblast CRL 2076

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first attempt to determine the induction of collagen production using sea cucumber extracts. Collagen is a crucial element of the skin structure. More than 80% of extracellular matrix in connective tissue is composed of collagen (Song *et al.*, 2012). In addition, collagen contributes to the elasticity, flexibility and strength of the skin. However, during the process of aging and UV exposure, the level of collagen decreases and results in the formation of wrinkles (Taofiq *et al.*, 2016).

H. atra extracts significantly stimulated the collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells (Figure 3.5). Treatment of 2.5 mg/L of extract from shaking at 60°C and sonication at 22°C increased the collagen production 1.2 to 3.7 times. The varied activity of *H. atra* extracts may be because of different chemical profiles of the extracts. To understand which chemical characters have a responsibility to the stimulating collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells, the correlation of each chemical property was analyzed using regression method. The significance (p<0.05) and correlation coefficient (R^2) numbers were observed.

Chemical characteristic	Slope	Correlation	Significance
Saponins content	y = 329.66x - 59.335	$R^2 = 0.65448$	<i>p</i> = 0.191
Sugar content	y = 242.56x + 57.061	$R^2 = 0.07267$	<i>p</i> = 0.739
Protein content	y = -160.38x + 130.05	$R^2 = 0.51736$	<i>p</i> = 0.279
Total phenolic content	y = -5.7899x + 139.67	$R^2 = 0.59197$	p = 0.230
Antioxidant properties	y = -2030.7x + 205.94	$R^2 = 0.55211$	<i>p</i> = 0.266

Table 4.3. Correlation between chemical characteristics of extract and collagen production. The analysis used a regression test and the significance level was found using one-way ANOVA with n = 4.

Based on the correlation of the chemical characteristics of the extract (Table 4.3), saponins content had the highest correlation ($R^2 = 0.65448$) although this was not significant (p = 0.191). This result, however, was limited by the number of data that were used, which was only four data and at one concentration (2.5 mg/L). Saponins from plants especially from ginseng are known to stimulate the collagen production in the skin cells. Panax ginseng extract which contains more than 45% saponins induced collagen type I production in human skin fibroblast cells up to 1.6 times depending on the extract concentrations (0.1 - 1mg/mL) (Lee *et al.*, 2007). Treatment of sun ginseng extract (2 - 50 mg/L), which contains high less-polar saponins to skin cells increased the collagen production approximately 50% (Song *et al.*, 2012). Another triterpenoid saponins from the plant *Viola hondoensis* inducing the production of collagen expression in dermal fibroblast cells (Moon *et al.*, 2004). Using pure saponin from *Viola hondoensis* (Acutoside a) at concentrations 0.1 to 10 µM increased the type I procollagen expression in the fibroblast cells culture up to 500%.

There are some suggested mechanisms of saponins-rich extracts that explain the increase of collagen production in skin cells. These processes include activation of Smad signaling and regulating MMP-1 and TIMP-1 expression in human dermal

fibroblasts (Lee *et al.*, 2007, Song *et al.*, 2012). Smad is an important transcription factor in the expression of type I collagen induced by TGF- β or sphingosine 1-phosphate. Smad2 phosphorylation is an initial molecular process of Smad signaling that can be activated by saponins treatment (Lee *et al.*, 2007). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a group of enzymes that are important for the destruction and transformation of the extracellular matrix. MMP-1 (collagenase-1), in particular, triggers the degradation of collagen molecules, leading to skin fragility, laxity, roughness, dryness, pigmentation, and wrinkle formation. In addition, an increase of MMP-1 has been observed in the dermis due to a loss in the tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs). Ginseng saponins are reported to suppress the MMP-1 protein level and increase TIMP-1 production in fibroblasts (Song *et al.*, 2012). In this study, it is possible that sea cucumber extracts have both mechanism actions, therefore this need further analysis.

4.5. Chemical characteristic of *H. atra* extracts

4.5.1. More saponins content in 70% EtOH extracts

Saponins are the most important and rich metabolites in sea cucumber (Kim and Himaya, 2012). The saponins in sea cucumbers are present in many organs. It is abundant in the body wall, cuvierian organs and gonad (Honey-Escandón *et al.*, 2015). Holoturian saponins were reported to have a wide spectrum of potential applications, including cytotoxic and anticancer, antibacterial, antifungal, antiprotozoal, antiviral, antioxidant, mutagenic, hemolytic, immunomodulation, neurotoxic, inhibition of Na+,K+ -ATPase, mitogenic, radioprotective and inhibition of root growth activities (Kalinin *et al.*, 2008, Kim and Himaya, 2012, Aminin *et al.*, 2015, Aminin, 2016). These applications are affected by the structure of saponins that led to membranotropic

activity (Augustin *et al.*, 2011). The structure of saponins consists of two main parts, the sugar component (glycone) and non-sugar component (aglycone) (Moghimipour and Handali, 2015). Therefore, the analysis of saponins content is based on these structures. Sulfuric acid-vanillin assay is the most common spectrophotometric method in saponins quantification. The basic principle of this method is the reaction of oxidized triterpene saponins with vanillin using sulfuric acid and the reaction will produce color. In this study, the saponins content of *H. atra* extracts were between 0.159 to 0.224 mg eq./ mg extract or 0.031 to 0.052 mg eq./ mg dried body wall (Figure 3.6). Comparison of these results to other sea cucumber studies is difficult because of different methods and units that were used. For example, the butanolic phase of *H.* fuscocinerea, *H.* scabra and *H. impatiens* contained saponins from 0.10 to 0.18 mg eq./ mL body wall (Bondoc *et al.*, 2013). Another study using hemolotic method reported that butanolic fraction *H. atra* extract had 0.973 mg eq./ gram wet weight body wall (Van Dyck *et al.*, 2010).

In this study, sonication 70%EtOH extracts of *H. atra* body wall contained more saponins than water extracts. The results indicated that saponins from *H. atra* were more soluble in 70%EtOH than water. Similar results were obtained from the study of ginseng saponin. Using 50% ethanol, the yield of ginseng saponins from roots of *Panax quinquefolius* was higher compared to 65% aqueous glycerin extract (Gafner *et al.*, 2004). In addition, extraction of ginseng saponins using microwave-assisted process produced the highest yield using 75% ethanol (1.44 – 1.92 times) among the different ethanol concentrations used (30, 45 and 60 %) (Kwon *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, saponins from *Stichopus japonicas* was more soluble in water than 70%EtOH when extracted using heat reflux extraction and pressurized solvent extraction (Husni *et al.*,

2009). This result however was based on the yield of saponins that were extracted, not from colorimetric quantification.

70%EtOH extracts from sonication produced the highest saponins compared to other extraction conditions. The sonication-assisted extraction of saponins from ginseng roots was reported three times faster than the conventional extraction method. In addition, sonication can be conducted at a lower temperature which can avoid the degradation of the compound from high temperature (Lin *et al.*, 2001). Another assisted extraction also increased the saponins content in the extract; a microwave-assisted process to extract ginseng saponins produced a slightly higher yield of saponin compare to the conventional method (Kwon *et al.*, 2003).

4.5.2. Similar sugar contents in water and 70%EtOH extracts

Sugars are one type of carbohydrate or saccharides. Polysaccharides from sea cucumbers are reported to have various biological activities including anticoagulant activity, antitumor activity, immunomodulating activity, osteoclastogenesis inhibitory activity and neurosphere formation enhancing activity (Liu *et al.*, 2012). Quantifying sugars content can be carried out using spectrophotometric and HPLC. Combining sulfuric acid with anthrone, phenol or orcinol is the most common spectrophotometric method for measuring sugar content (Monsigny *et al.*, 1988). The sulfuric acid - anthrone method is based on the production of furfuraldehyde derivatives from hydrolysis of glycosidic bonds and dehydration of monomers by high temperature and a strong acid condition. The derivatives react with anthrone to develop color (Laurentin and Edwards, 2003).

The sugar contents of *H. atra* extracts in this study were from 0.062 to 0.091 mg/ mg extract (Figure 3.7). This result was higher with total carbohydrate of *H. atra* extract

using acetonitrile and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid solvent which contain 0.018 mg/ mg extract (Esmat *et al.*, 2013). These differences may be because of the solvent used. Water and 70%EtOH extracts contain similar sugars content in all extraction conditions. This indicates that sugars in *H. atra* extracts were dissolved in both water and 70%EtOH. This result was different than other studies. Hot water ($62 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C) was used to extract polysaccharides from roots of valerian (*Valeriana officinalis*) rather than used room temperature water because of the greater efficiency (Hromadkova *et al.*, 2002). In addition, ultrasound was reported to increase the yield of polysaccharides isolated from the ethanol-insoluble plant *Salvia officinalis* from 9.3 to 10% compared to traditional extraction (Hromadkova *et al.*, 1999). In this case, may be because of the different samples and extraction time that was used, since in their study used 2 to 3 h extraction, while in this study used 30 minutes each cycle (Hromadkova *et al.*, 1999, Hromadkova *et al.*, 2002).

4.5.3. Low phenolic content of *H. atra* extract

The total phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts was calculated using Folin-Ciocalteau. The Folin-Cicocalteu reagent measures the ability of any substance to reduce phosphomolybdic and phosphotungstic acids, which are blue when reduced (Singleton and Rossi, 1965).

Phenolics compounds are known as one of the antioxidant agents (Zhong *et al.*, 2007). Sea cucumbers are known to contain phenolic compounds in their body. The compounds were reported to come from the food of sea cucumbers such as phytoplankton and macro-algae particles. These foods contain phenolics-rich compounds (Althunibat *et al.*, 2009). Findings of this study showed that the average values of total phenolics in *H. atra* extracts varied from 2.14 to 4.99 μ g GAE/mg of

extract, depending on solvents and extraction conditions (Figure 3.8). The number was similar with total phenolic content from an aqueous and organic extract of *Stichopus horrens* and *H. edulis* which were 1.49 - 5.24 and 2.17 - 7.33 μ g GAE/ mg extract respectively (Althunibat *et al.*, 2013). If the number converted to mg GAE/ gram dried body wall (0.31 – 1.32 mg GAE/gram dried body wall), however, the result was lower than the phenolic content from *S. japonicas*. Using the same solvent, the phenolic content of this sea cucumber was 4.86 to 9.45 mg GAE/gram dried body wall (Husni *et al.*, 2009). The phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts are low compared to common known phenolics sources such as tea and grape. Various type of tea contains phenolics compound from 110 to 405 mg GAE/ gram (Atoui *et al.*, 2005, Rusak *et al.*, 2008) and grape from 23 to 80 mg GAE/ gram (Xu *et al.*, 2010, Fu *et al.*, 2011). The summary of comparison of phenolics content of *H. atra* extracts with other published data is summarized in Table 4.4.

Water extracts of *H. atra* contained significantly higher phenolics than 70%EtOH extracts (Figure 3.8), indicating that most of the phenolics compounds in the *H. atra* extracts were hydrophilic compounds. A similar result was reported from Malaysian (Althunibat *et al.*, 2009) and Antarctic sea cucumbers (Mamelona *et al.*, 2007).

Different extraction processes had no effect on the phenolics content of water and 70%EtOH extracts of *H. atra*. Different results were obtained from the study of processing the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* at 65°C for 48 hours. The phenolic content of methanol extract reduced up to 75% (Zhong *et al.*, 2007). From the study of the antioxidant activity of barley and malt, it is suggested that the reduction of phenolics content is caused by the changing of phenolic compounds bound; degradation of lignin which could cause to the release of phenolic acid derivatives; and/or the thermal degradation of the phenolic compounds (Maillard and Berset, 1995).

Another study reported that extraction of the fruit mengkudu (*Morinda citrifolia*) at 65°C for 80 minutes using 40%EtOH increases the concentration of phenolics compare to 25, 35, 45 and 55°C with same conditions (Thoo *et al.*, 2010).

Species	Total phenolics content		Reference	
-	(µg GAE/mg extract)	(mg GAE/g dried sample)		
Sea cucumber		▲ <i>ć</i>		
Holothuria atra	2.14 - 4.99	0.31 - 1.32	This study	
Cucumaria frondosa		0.225 - 2.36	Mamelona et al. (2007)	
H. edulis	2.17 - 7.33		Althunibat et al. (2013)	
H. leucospilota	2.91 - 9.7		Althunibat et al. (2009)	
H. scabra	1.53 - 4.85		Althunibat et al. (2009)	
Stichopus chloronotus	1.66 - 8.27		Althunibat et al. (2009)	
S. horrens	1.49 - 5.24		Althunibat et al. (2013)	
S. japonicus	11.88 - 22.77	4.86 - 9.45	Husni et al. (2009)	
Tea				
Black tea (Camellia sinensis)		282	Atoui et al. (2005)	
Green tea (Camellia sinensis)		405	Atoui et al. (2005)	
White tea		110 - 200	Rusak et al. (2008)	
Green tea		140 - 200	Rusak et al. (2008)	
Grape				
Black pearl grape		40.20	Xu et al. (2010)	
Purple		27.56	Xu et al. (2010)	
Green		23.20	Fu et al. (2011)	
Red		80.28	Fu et al. (2011)	

Table 4.4. Comparison of phenolics content of *H. atra* and other phenolic sources

The phenolics group consist of various compounds. In this study these compounds were not analysed. However, in another study using HPLC analysis, the phenolic compounds of *H. atra* from 60:40 (v/v) acetonitrile and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid extract were shown to contain chlorogenic acid, ascorbic acid, pyrogallol, rutin, coumaric acid and catechin. Chlorogenic acid was the major component with more than 92% of the total phenolic content (Esmat *et al.*, 2013). While using Liquid

chromatography - PhotoDiode Array Detection - Mass Spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS) analysis, Chinese green tea was shown to contain gallocatechin 3-gallate, catechin dimmer, caffeine, epigallocatechin 3-methyl gallate, epicatechin 3-gallate, myricetin 3-glycoside, quercetin 3-glycoside, kaempferol 3-glycoside, kaempferol 3-rutinoside, ester of caffeic acid, ester of coumaric acid and xanthoxylin (Atoui *et al.*, 2005).

4.5.4. More soluble protein in water extracts

Protein is the main component of sea cucumber after water. After sea cucumber processing, the protein content is between 10 to 70% depend on the processing techniques and type of species (Chang-Lee et al., 1989, Zhong et al., 2007). Proteins in sea cucumbers have beneficial activities. Sea cucumber gelatin hydrolysate reported has antihypertensive activity and decreased the serum triglyceride levels (Taboada *et al.*, 2003, Zhao *et al.*, 2007). Glycoprotein fractions from liquid extracts of boiled sea cucumber have skin whitening and anti-corrugation activities (Kim *et al.*, 2016). DC Protein Assay (BioRad, USA) which is adopted from the Lowry assay was used to measure protein of the *H. atra* extracts. This method combines the reactions of peptide bonds and copper ions under an alkaline environment to produce Cu+, which further reacts with Folin–Ciocalteu reagent (a mixture of phosphotungstic acid and phosphomolybdic acid in the Folin–Ciocalteu reaction) (Lowry *et al.*, 1951).

The soluble protein content in *H. atra* extracts ranged from 0.033 to 0.122 mg/ mg extract depending on the solvents and condition of extractions (Figure 3.9). This number was lower compared to *H. atra* extract using acetonitrile and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid solvent which contain 0.29 mg/ mg extract (Esmat *et al.*, 2013). In addition, using 10% trichloracetic acid to precipitate the water-soluble protein of *Stichopus japonicus* obtained 23% of soluble protein (Tanikawa, 1955). These

72

differences may be because of the solvent and material that were used. Water extract had a significantly higher soluble protein than 70%EtOH, indicating that protein was more soluble in water rather than in 70%EtOH. A similar result was obtained from the study of antioxidant and antiproliferative of mushroom *Inonotus obliquus*. The soluble protein in water extracts was significantly higher (0.08 - 0.14 mg/ mg extract) than ethanol extract (not detected) (Hu *et al.*, 2009).

Overall, the *H. atra* water and 70%EtOH extracts contained saponins ranging from 0.16 to 0.22 mg/ mg extract, sugars 0.62 - 0.91 mg/ mg extract and soluble protein 0.109 - 0.122 mg/ mg extract. *H. atra* extract using acetonitrile and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid solvent contain 0.018 mg/ mg extract carbohydrate, 0.29 mg/ mg extract protein and 0.027 mg/ mg extract lipid (Esmat *et al.*, 2013).

4.5.5. More compounds in 70% EtOH extracts

Chromatographic fingerprinting analysis has been widely used for standardized herbal medicine (Fan *et al.*, 2006). The types of chromatography methods include high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), gas chromatography (GC), capillary electrophoresis (CE), and thin-layer chromatography (TLC) (Xie *et al.*, 2006). Although the TLC method is less sensitive than HPLC, it is adequate for comparing compound composition between different extracts. In addition, TLC is simple, easy to use and specific detection reagents are available (Sherma, 2000).

The 70%EtOH extracts contained more compounds than water extracts in both shaking at 60 and sonication at room temperature (Figure 3.10, Table 3.1). This result indicates that the *H. atra* extracts contain more ethanol soluble compounds than water soluble. In plant material, more bioactive compound groups were extracted by ethanol than water; ethanol extracts tannins, polyphenols, flavonol, terpenoids and alkaloids groups while water extracts anthocyanins, tannins, saponins and terpenoids groups (Azmir *et al.*, 2013). In both water and 70%EtOH extracts, there were some similar compounds (compounds number 1 to 4 and 10 to 13) detected in the TLC plate, indicating that these compounds are soluble in water and 70%EtOH. *Azmir et al.* (2013) stated that water and ethanol have similar ability to extract tannins and terpenoids compounds. In addition, 70%EtOH solvent contains 30% water, therefore the 30% water in that ethanol may extract these compounds.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

5.1. Conclusion

The present study demonstrated the potential application of sea cucumber extracts for cosmetic ingredients. The extraction optimization showed that water extracts contained significantly higher of yield than 70%EtOH extracts. Shaking at 60°C produced more yields from 70%EtOH compared to shaking and sonication at 22°C, however these treatments in the water extract were not significantly different.

The safe dosages for sea cucumber extracts varied depending on extraction solvents and conditions and ranged from 2.5 - 10 mg/L extracts. At 2.5 mg/L concentration, the sea cucumber extracts increased the collagen production of human skin fibroblast cells up to 3.7-fold. Water extracts contained more antioxidant capacity and phenolics content compared to 70%EtOH, however, the antioxidant capacities and phenolics content of the extracts were 100 times lower than common antioxidant sources such as green tea and grape.

The chemical characterization of sea cucumber extracts contained 0.15 - 0.22 mg/mg extract of saponins, 0.06 - 0.09 mg/mg extract of sugars, $2.14 - 4.99\mu\text{g}/\text{mg}$ extract of phenolics and 0.03 - 0.12 mg/mg extract of soluble protein. TLC showed a different distribution of compounds between water and 70%EtOH extracts with ethanol 70% extracts exhibiting a higher number of compounds (11 compounds compared to 9 compounds from water extracts). These results indicate strong anti-aging properties of sea cucumber extracts on human skin cells and confirm their potential application for anti-aging skin care product ingredients.

5.2. Future directions

The findings of this study support the potential application of sea cucumber extract for cosmetic application. However, there are some further studies that need to be done to complete this result. In treating skin fibroblast cells using different concentrations of extract in the collagen production it is important to understand the effect of the extract, i.e. whether the collagen increase is dose-dependent or independent. In addition, it is necessary to include a positive control in the treatment to understand which one is better in terms of increasing collagen production. Furthermore, extract purification and identification using TLC-MS and LC-MS are important to distinguish which compound(s) in the extract has influenced the collagen production. The increase of collagen in the cells can occur by different mechanisms, such as inhibiting of MMPs and up regulation of growth factor β , therefore it is important to determine which actions are effected by the sea cucumber extract.

Further studies focusing on the other cosmetic ingredient activities including skin whitening anti-hyaluronidase, pro elastin production and UV protection using different type of cells such as melanocyte and keratinocyte cells, are crucial to determine the total application of sea cucumber extract for cosmeceutical applications. Also, it is important to use different parts and species of sea cucumber in these analyses. Viscera, for example, is a byproduct of sea cucumber processing for food that is known contain more saponins than body wall. A further experiment in the scale-up of the extraction process and *in vivo* studies also can be a part of the clinical pipeline studies.

References

- Alam, M. N., Bristi, N. J. & Rafiquzzaman, M. 2013. Review on *in vivo* and *in vitro* methods evaluation of antioxidant activity. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal*, 21, 143-152.
- Althunibat, O., Ridzwan, B., Taher, M., Daud, J., Jauhari Arief Ichwan, S. & Qaralleh,
 H. 2013. Antioxidant and cytotoxic properties of two sea cucumbers,
 Holothuria edulis Lesson and *Stichopus horrens* Selenka. *Acta Biologica Hungarica*, 64, 10-20.
- Althunibat, O. Y., Hashim, R. B., Taher, M., Daud, J. M., Ikeda, M.-A. & Zali, B. 2009. *In vitro* antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of three Malaysian sea cucumber species. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 37, 376-387.
- Aminin, D. 2016. Immunomodulatory properties of sea cucumber triterpene glycosides. *Marine and Freshwater Toxins*, 381-401.
- Aminin, D. L., Menchinskaya, E. S., Pisliagin, E. A., Silchenko, A. S., Avilov, S. A. & Kalinin, V. I. 2015. Anticancer activity of sea cucumber triterpene glycosides. *Marine Drugs*, 13, 1202-1223.
- Appel, H. M., Govenor, H. L., D'ascenzo, M., Siska, E. & Schultz, J. C. 2001. Limitations of Folin assays of foliar phenolics in ecological studies. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 27, 761-778.
- Arndt, A. & Smith, M. 1998. Genetic diversity and population structure in two species of sea cucumber: differing patterns according to mode of development. *Molecular Ecology*, 7, 1053-1064.
- Arnone, M. I., Byrne, M. & Martinez, P. 2015. Echinodermata. *Evolutionary* Developmental Biology of Invertebrates 6. Springer.
- Arora, N., Agarwal, S. & Murthy, R. 2012. Latest technology advances in cosmaceuticals. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Drug Research*, 4, 168-82.
- Atoui, A. K., Mansouri, A., Boskou, G. & Kefalas, P. 2005. Tea and herbal infusions: their antioxidant activity and phenolic profile. *Food Chemistry*, 89, 27-36.
- Augustin, J. M., Kuzina, V., Andersen, S. B. & Bak, S. 2011. Molecular activities, biosynthesis and evolution of triterpenoid saponins. *Phytochemistry*, 72, 435-457.
- Azmir, J., Zaidul, I., Rahman, M., Sharif, K., Mohamed, A., Sahena, F., Jahurul, M., Ghafoor, K., Norulaini, N. & Omar, A. 2013. Techniques for extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials: a review. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 117, 426-436.
- Baccou, J., Lambert, F. & Sauvaire, Y. 1977. Spectrophotometric method for the determination of total steroidal sapogenin. *Analyst*, 102, 458-465.
- Bahrami, Y. & Franco, C. M. 2015. Structure elucidation of new acetylated saponins, Lessoniosides A, B, C, D, and E, and non-acetylated saponins, Lessoniosides F and G, from the viscera of the sea cucumber *Holothuria lessoni*. *Marine Drugs*, 13, 597-617.
- Bahrami, Y., Zhang, W. & Franco, C. 2014. Discovery of novel saponins from the viscera of the sea cucumber *Holothuria lessoni*. *Marine Drugs*, 12, 2633-2667.
- Benzie, I. F. & Strain, J. J. 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 239, 70-76.

- Bondoc, K. G. V., Lee, H., Cruz, L. J., Lebrilla, C. B. & Juinio-Meñez, M. A. 2013. Chemical fingerprinting and phylogenetic mapping of saponin congeners from three tropical holothurian sea cucumbers. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 166, 182-193.
- Bordbar, S., Anwar, F. & Saari, N. 2011. High-value components and bioactives from sea cucumbers for functional foods—a review. *Marine Drugs*, 9, 1761-1805.
- Brandt, F. S., Cazzaniga, A. & Hann, M. Cosmeceuticals: current trends and market analysis. Seminars in Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery, 2011. Frontline Medical Communications, 141-143.
- Bruckner, A., Johnson, K. & Field, J. 2003. Conservation strategies for sea cucumbers: Can a CITES Appendix II listing promote sustainable international trade. SPC Beche-de-mer Information Bulletin, 18, 24-33.
- Byrne, F. P., Jin, S., Paggiola, G., Petchey, T. H. M., Clark, J. H., Farmer, T. J., Hunt, A. J., Robert Mcelroy, C. & Sherwood, J. 2016. Tools and techniques for solvent selection: green solvent selection guides. *Sustainable Chemical Processes*, 4, 7.
- Capello, C., Fischer, U. & Hungerbühler, K. 2007. What is a green solvent? A comprehensive framework for the environmental assessment of solvents. *Green Chemistry*, 9, 927-934.
- Caulier, G., Van Dyck, S., Gerbaux, P., Eeckhaut, I. & Flammang, P. 2011. Review of saponin diversity in sea cucumbers belonging to the family Holothuriidae. *SPC Beche-de-mer Information Bulletin*, 31, 48-54.
- Chang-Lee, M. V., Price, R. J. & Lampila, L. E. 1989. Effect of processing on proximate composition and mineral content of sea cucumbers (*Parastichopus spp.*). Journal of Food Science, 54, 567-568.
- Chen, J. 2003. Overview of sea cucumber farming and sea ranching practices in China. *SPC Beche-de-mer Information Bulletin,* 18, 18-23.
- Chen, J. 2005. Present status and prospects of sea cucumber industry in China. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper, 463, 25-38.
- Chen, R., Meng, F., Zhang, S. & Liu, Z. 2009. Effects of ultrahigh pressure extraction conditions on yields and antioxidant activity of ginsenoside from ginseng. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 66, 340-346.
- Cheok, C. Y., Salman, H. A. K. & Sulaiman, R. 2014. Extraction and quantification of saponins: A review. *Food Research International*, 59, 16-40.
- Chiba, K., Kawakami, K. & Tohyama, K. 1998. Simultaneous evaluation of cell viability by neutral red, MTT and crystal violet staining assays of the same cells. *Toxicology In Vitro*, 12, 251-258.
- Choo, P.-S. 2008. Population status, fisheries and trade of sea cucumbers in Asia. In: Toral-Granda, V., Lovatelli, A. & Vasconcellos, M. (eds.) Sea cucumbers: A global review of fisheries and trade. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper no. 516. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Chu, S.-F. & Zhang, J.-T. 2009. New achievements in ginseng research and its future prospects. *Chinese Journal of Integrative Medicine*, 15, 403-408.
- Cipriani, E., Bernardi, S. & Continenza, M. A. 2016. Wrinkles: origins and treatments. *Advances in Cosmetics and Dermatology*, 2, 01-07.
- Clarke, S. 2002. Trade in Asian dried seafood. *Wildlife Conservation Society Working Paper*, 15.
- Collin, P. D. 1998. Tissue fractions of sea cucumber for the treatment of inflammation. Stonington, Maine, United States: Google Patents.

- Conand, C. 2004. Present status of world sea cucumber resources and utilisation: an international overview. *In:* Lovatelli, A. & Conand, C. (eds.) *Advances in sea cucumber aquaculture and management*. Rome, Italy: FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper.
- Cos, P., Vlietinck, A. J., Berghe, D. V. & Maes, L. 2006. Anti-infective potential of natural products: how to develop a stronger *in vitro* 'proof-of-concept'. *Journal* of Ethnopharmacology, 106, 290-302.
- Dakrory, A. I., Al Harbi, M. S. & Mohamed, A. S. 2015a. Antioxidant role of *Holothuria atra* extract against nephrotoxicity induced by 7, 12-dimethylbenz (a) anthracene in male albino rats. *International Journal Advanced Research*, 3, 275-287.
- Dakrory, A. I., Fahmy, S. R., Soliman, A. M., Mohamed, A. S. & Amer, S. A. 2015b. Protective and curative effects of the sea cucumber *Holothuria atra* extract against DMBA-induced hepatorenal diseases in rats. *BioMed Research International*, 2015.
- De Castro, M. L. 2011. Cosmetobolomics as an incipient '-omics' with high analytical involvement. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 30, 1365-1371.
- Dhinakaran, D. I. & Lipton, A. P. 2014. Bioactive compounds from *Holothuria atra* of Indian ocean. *SpringerPlus*, 3, 673.
- El Nemr, A., Razek, F. A. A., El-Sikaily, A., El-Rahman, S. H. A., Moussa, R. M. & Taha, S. M. 2012. Isolation of holothurin b from sea cucumber *Holothuria arenicola* collected from Alexandria coast, Egypt. *Blue Biotechnology Journal*, 1, 43.
- Elekofehinti, O. O. 2015. Saponins: Anti-diabetic principles from medicinal plants-A review. *Pathophysiology*, 22, 95-103.
- Eriksson, H. & Byrne, M. 2015. The sea cucumber fishery in Australia's Great Barrier Reef Marine Park follows global patterns of serial exploitation. *Fish and Fisheries*, 16, 329-341.
- Esmat, A. Y., Said, M. M., Soliman, A. A., El-Masry, K. S. & Badiea, E. A. 2013. Bioactive compounds, antioxidant potential, and hepatoprotective activity of sea cucumber (*Holothuria atra*) against thioacetamide intoxication in rats. *Nutrition*, 29, 258-267.
- Fabinyi, M. 2012. Historical, cultural and social perspectives on luxury seafood consumption in China. *Environmental Conservation*, 39, 83-92.
- Faizal, A. & Geelen, D. 2013. Saponins and their role in biological processes in plants. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 12, 877-893.
- Fan, X.-H., Cheng, Y.-Y., Ye, Z.-L., Lin, R.-C. & Qian, Z.-Z. 2006. Multiple chromatographic fingerprinting and its application to the quality control of herbal medicines. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 555, 217-224.
- Francis, G., Kerem, Z., Makkar, H. P. & Becker, K. 2002. The biological action of saponins in animal systems: a review. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 88, 587-605.
- Fu, L., Xu, B.-T., Xu, X.-R., Gan, R.-Y., Zhang, Y., Xia, E.-Q. & Li, H.-B. 2011. Antioxidant capacities and total phenolic contents of 62 fruits. *Food Chemistry*, 129, 345-350.
- Gafner, S., Bergeron, C., Mccollom, M. M., Cooper, L. M., Mcphail, K. L., Gerwick, W. H. & Angerhofer, C. K. 2004. Evaluation of the efficiency of three different solvent systems to extract triterpene saponins from roots of *Panax quinquefolius* using High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52, 1546-1550.

- Gerchakov, S. M. & Hatcher, P. G. 1972. Improved technique for analysis of carbohydrates in sediments. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 17, 938-943.
- Güçlü-Üstündağ, Ö. & Mazza, G. 2007. Saponins: properties, applications and processing. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 47, 231-258.
- Guo, X., Ye, X., Sun, Y., Wu, D., Wu, N., Hu, Y. & Chen, S. 2014. Ultrasound effects on the degradation kinetics, structure, and antioxidant activity of sea cucumber fucoidan. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62, 1088-1095.
- Hamel, J.-F., Conand, C., Pawson, D. L. & Mercier, A. 2001. The sea cucumber *Holothuria scabra* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata): its biology and exploitation as *beche-de-mer*. *Advances in Marine Biology*, 41, 129-223.
- Hansen, J. & Møller, I. 1975. Percolation of starch and soluble carbohydrates from plant tissue for quantitative determination with anthrone. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 68, 87-94.
- Honey-Escandón, M., Arreguín-Espinosa, R., Solís-Marín, F. A. & Samyn, Y. 2015.
 Biological and taxonomic perspective of triterpenoid glycosides of sea cucumbers of the family Holothuriidae (Echinodermata, Holothuroidea).
 Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 180, 16-39.
- Hromadkova, Z., Ebringerova, A. & Valachovič, P. 1999. Comparison of classical and ultrasound-assisted extraction of polysaccharides from *Salvia officinalis L. Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 5, 163-168.
- Hromadkova, Z., Ebringerova, A. & Valachovič, P. 2002. Ultrasound-assisted extraction of water-soluble polysaccharides from the roots of valerian (*Valeriana officinalisL*.). *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 9, 37-44.
- http://www.hikoreanfashion.com/. Haishen 80 Sea Cucumber Nutritive Fresh Creams [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.hikoreanfashion.com/en/moisturizers-</u> <u>creams/7886-haishen-80-sea-cucumber-nutritive-fresh-creams.html</u> [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- http://www.tradekorea.com/. Skin N Sea Cucumber Mystery Cream [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.tradekorea.com/product/detail/P579046/Skin-N-Sea-</u> Cucumber-Mystery-Cream.html [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- Hu, H., Zhang, Z., Lei, Z., Yang, Y. & Sugiura, N. 2009. Comparative study of antioxidant activity and antiproliferative effect of hot water and ethanol extracts from the mushroom *Inonotus obliquus*. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 107, 42-48.
- Husni, A., Shin, I.-S., You, S. & Chung, D. 2009. Antioxidant properties of water and aqueous ethanol extracts and their crude saponin fractions from a far-eastern sea cucumber, *Stichopus japonicus*. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, 18, 419-424.
- Hwang, E., Park, S.-Y., Jo, H., Lee, D.-G., Kim, H.-T., Kim, Y. M., Yin, C. S. & Yi, T.
 H. 2015. Efficacy and safety of enzyme-modified Panax ginseng for antiwrinkle therapy in healthy skin: a single-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Rejuvenation Research*, 18, 449-457.
- Hyde, K., Bahkali, A. & Moslem, M. 2010. Fungi—an unusual source for cosmetics. *Fungal Diversity*, 43, 1-9.
- Irick, T., West, K., Brownell, H., Schwald, W. & Saddler, J. 1988. Comparison of colorimetric and HPLC techniques for quantitating the carbohydrate components of steam-treated wood. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 17, 137-149.

- Ishiyama, M., Tominaga, H., Shiga, M., Sasamoto, K., Ohkura, Y. & Keiyu, U. 1996. A Combined assay of cell vability and *in vitro* cytotoxicity with a highly watersoluble tetrazolium salt, neutral red and crystal violet. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 19, 1518-1520.
- Jung, S. H., Woo, M. S., Kim, S. Y., Kim, W. K., Hyun, J. W., Kim, E. J., Kim, D. H. & Kim, H. S. 2006. Ginseng saponin metabolite suppresses phorbol esterinduced matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression through inhibition of activator protein-1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways in human astroglioma cells. *International Journal of Cancer*, 118, 490-497.
- Kalinin, V. I., Aminin, D. L., Avilov, S. A., Silchenko, A. S. & Stonik, V. A. 2008. Triterpene glycosides from sea cucucmbers (Holothurioidea, Echinodermata). Biological activities and functions. *Studies in Natural Products Chemistry*, 35, 135-196.
- Kalinin, V. I., Silchenko, A. S., Avilov, S. A., Stonik, V. A. & Smirnov, A. V. 2005. Sea cucumbers triterpene glycosides, the recent progress in structural elucidation and chemotaxonomy. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 4, 221-236.
- Kang, T. H., Park, H. M., Kim, Y.-B., Kim, H., Kim, N., Do, J.-H., Kang, C., Cho, Y. & Kim, S. Y. 2009. Effects of red ginseng extract on UVB irradiation-induced skin aging in hairless mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 123, 446-451.
- Kaswandi, M., Lian, H., Nurzakiah, S., Ridzwan, B., Ujang, S., Samsudin, M., Jasnizat, S. & Ali, A. Crystal saponin from three sea cucumber genus and their potential as antibacterial agents. 9th Scientific Conference Electron Microscopic Society, 2000. 12-14.
- Kendall, A. C. & Nicolaou, A. 2013. Bioactive lipid mediators in skin inflammation and immunity. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 52, 141-164.
- Kerdudo, A., Burger, P., Merck, F., Dingas, A., Rolland, Y., Michel, T. & Fernandez, X. 2016. Development of a natural ingredient–Natural preservative: A case study. *Comptes Rendus Chimie*, 19, 1077-1089.
- Kerr, R. G. & Chen, Z. 1995. In vivo and in vitro biosynthesis of saponins in sea cucumbers. Journal of Natural Products, 58, 172-176.
- Kim, O. T., Bang, K. H., Kim, Y. C., Hyun, D. Y., Kim, M. Y. & Cha, S. W. 2009. Upregulation of ginsenoside and gene expression related to triterpene biosynthesis in ginseng hairy root cultures elicited by methyl jasmonate. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC)*, 98, 25-33.
- Kim, S.-K. & Himaya, S. 2012. Triterpene glycosides from sea cucumbers and their biological activities. *In:* Kim, S.-K. (ed.) *Marine Medicinal Foods: Implications* and Applications - Animals and Microbes. Elsevier Inc.
- Kim, S. J., Park, S. Y., Hong, S.-M., Kwon, E.-H. & Lee, T.-K. 2016. Skin whitening and anti-corrugation activities of glycoprotein fractions from liquid extracts of boiled sea cucumber. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 9, 1002-1006.
- Kinch, J., Purcell, S., Uthicke, S. & Friedman, K. 2008. Population status, fisheries and trade of sea cucumbers in the Western Central Pacific. *In:* Toral-Granda, V., Lovatelli, A. & Vasconcellos, M. (eds.) *Sea cucumbers: A global review of fisheries and trade. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper no. 516.* Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Kwon, J.-H., Bélanger, J. M. & Paré, J. J. 2003. Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction (MAP)[†] for ginseng components by response surface methodology. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51, 1807-1810.

- Lampe, K. 2013. Holothurian density, distribution and diversity comparing sites with different degrees of exploitation in the shallow lagoons of Mauritius. *SPC Beche-de-mer Information Bulletin* 33, 23-29.
- Langley-Evans, S. C. 2000. Antioxidant potential of green and black tea determined using the ferric reducing power (FRAP) assay. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 51, 181-188.
- Larrauri, J. A., Rupérez, P. & Saura-Calixto, F. 1997. Effect of drying temperature on the stability of polyphenols and antioxidant activity of red grape pomace peels. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 45, 1390-1393.
- Laurentin, A. & Edwards, C. A. 2003. A microtiter modification of the anthronesulfuric acid colorimetric assay for glucose-based carbohydrates. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 315, 143-145.
- Lee, D.-Y., Jeong, S. C., Jeong, Y. T., Lee, M.-K., Seo, K.-H., Lee, J.-W., Kim, G.-S., Lee, S.-E., Baek, N.-I. & Kim, J. H. 2015. Antimelanogenic effects of picrionoside a isolated from the leaves of Korean ginseng. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 38, 1663-1667.
- Lee, J., Jung, E., Lee, J., Huh, S., Kim, J., Park, M., So, J., Ham, Y., Jung, K. & Hyun, C.-G. 2007. Panax ginseng induces human Type I collagen synthesis through activation of Smad signaling. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 109, 29-34.
- Leem, K.-H. 2015. Effects of Olibanum extracts on the collagenase activity and procollagen synthesis in Hs68 human fibroblasts and tyrosinase activity. *Advanced Science and Technology Letters* 88, 172-175.
- Lin, L., Wu, J., Ho, K.-P. & Qi, S. 2001. Ultrasound-induced physiological effects and secondary metabolite (saponin) production in *Panax ginseng* cell cultures. *Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology*, 27, 1147-1152.
- Liu, X., Sun, Z., Zhang, M., Meng, X., Xia, X., Yuan, W., Xue, F. & Liu, C. 2012. Antioxidant and antihyperlipidemic activities of polysaccharides from sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus*. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 90, 1664-1670.
- López-García, J., Lehocký, M., Humpolíček, P. & Sáha, P. 2014. HaCaT keratinocytes response on antimicrobial atelocollagen substrates: extent of cytotoxicity, cell viability and proliferation. *Journal of Functional Biomaterials*, 5, 43-57.
- Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L. & Randall, R. J. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 193, 265-275.
- Maillard, M.-N. & Berset, C. 1995. Evolution of antioxidant activity during kilning: role of insoluble bound phenolic acids of barley and malt. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 43, 1789-1793.
- Mamelona, J., Pelletier, É., Girard-Lalancette, K., Legault, J., Karboune, S. & Kermasha, S. 2007. Quantification of phenolic contents and antioxidant capacity of Atlantic sea cucumber, *Cucumaria frondosa*. *Food Chemistry*, 104, 1040-1047.
- Matranga, V. 2005. Echinodermata, Berlin Heidelberg, Springer.
- Meybeck, A., Dumas, M. & Chaudagne, C. 1998. Use of the rb1, ginsenoside for stimulating elastin synthesis. Google Patents.
- Moghimipour, E. & Handali, S. 2015. Saponin: properties, methods of evaluation and applications. *Annual Research & Review in Biology*, 5, 207.
- Monsigny, M., Petit, C. & Roche, A.-C. 1988. Colorimetric determination of neutral sugars by a resorcinol sulfuric acid micromethod. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 175, 525-530.

- Moon, H.-I., Chung, J. H., Lee, J.-K. & Zee, O.-P. 2004. Triterpenoid saponin from *Viola hondoensis* W. Becker et H Boss. and their effect on MMP-1 and type I procollagen expression. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, 27, 730-733.
- Mosmann, T. 1983. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 65, 55-63.
- Mukaka, M. 2012. A guide to appropriate use of correlation coefficient in medical research. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 24, 69-71.
- Mukherjee, P. K., Maity, N., Nema, N. K. & Sarkar, B. K. 2011. Bioactive compounds from natural resources against skin aging. *Phytomedicine*, 19, 64-73.
- Murthy, H. N. & Paek, K. Y. 2016. Panax ginseng adventitious root suspension culture: protocol for biomass production and analysis of ginsenosides by High Pressure Liquid Chromatography. Protocols for In Vitro Cultures and Secondary Metabolite Analysis of Aromatic and Medicinal Plants, Second Edition, 125-139.
- Netala, V., Ghosh, S., Bobbu, P., Anitha, D. & Tartte, V. 2014. Triterpenoid saponins: a review on biosynthesis, applications and mechanism of their action. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 7, 24-28.
- Nobsathian, S., Tuchinda, P., Sobhon, P., Tinikul, Y., Poljaroen, J., Tinikul, R., Sroyraya, M., Poomton, T. & Chaichotranunt, S. 2017. An antioxidant activity of the whole body of *Holothuria scabra*. *Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture*, 4, 1-5.
- Olivera-Castillo, L., Barrientos, R. G., Legarreta, I. G., Sámano, A. H. & Chi, Y. C. 2013. Sea Cucumber as a Source of Bioactive Compounds: Current Research on Isostichopus Badionotus and Isostichopus Fuscus from Mexico. *Bioactive Compounds from Marine Foods: Plant and Animal Sources*, 329-342.
- Pallela, R., Na-Young, Y. & Kim, S.-K. 2010. Anti-photoaging and photoprotective compounds derived from marine organisms. *Marine Drugs*, 8, 1189-1202.
- Papakonstantinou, E., Roth, M. & Karakiulakis, G. 2012. Hyaluronic acid: A key molecule in skin aging. *Dermato-Endocrinology*, 4, 253-258.
- Park, E.-K., Choo, M.-K., Han, M. J. & Kim, D.-H. 2004. Ginsenoside Rh1 possesses antiallergic and anti-inflammatory activities. *International Archives of Allergy* and Immunology, 133, 113-120.
- Pawson, D. L., Pawson, D. J. & King, R. A. 2010. A taxonomic guide to the Echinodermata of the South Atlantic Bight, USA: 1. Sea cucumbers (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). *Zootaxa*, 2449, 1-48.
- Purcell, S. W., Hair, C. A. & Mills, D. J. 2012a. Sea cucumber culture, farming and sea ranching in the tropics: progress, problems and opportunities. *Aquaculture*, 368, 68-81.
- Purcell, S. W., Lovatelli, A., Vasconcellos, M. & Ye, Y. 2010. Managing sea cucumber fisheries with an ecosystem approach. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper No. 520, Rome, Italy, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- Purcell, S. W., Samyn, Y. & Conand, C. 2012b. *Commercially important sea cucumbers of the world*, Rome, Italy, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Puupponen-Pimiä, R., Häkkinen, S. T., Aarni, M., Suortti, T., Lampi, A. M., Eurola, M., Piironen, V., Nuutila, A. M. & Oksman-Caldentey, K. M. 2003. Blanching and long-term freezing affect various bioactive compounds of vegetables in different ways. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 83, 1389-1402.

- Rittié, L. & Fisher, G. J. 2002. UV-light-induced signal cascades and skin aging. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 1, 705-720.
- Rowe, F. & Gates, J. 1995. Echinodermata in: Wells, A. Zoological Catalogue of Australia, 33.
- Rusak, G., Komes, D., Likić, S., Horžić, D. & Kovač, M. 2008. Phenolic content and antioxidative capacity of green and white tea extracts depending on extraction conditions and the solvent used. *Food Chemistry*, 110, 852-858.
- Saito, M., Kunisaki, N., Urano, N. & Kimura, S. 2002. Collagen as the major edible component of sea cucumber (*Stichopus japonicus*). *Journal of Food Science*, 67, 1319-1322.
- Sanada, S., Kondo, N., Shoji, J., Tanaka, O. & Shibata, S. 1974. Studies on the saponins of ginseng. I. Structures of ginsenoside-Ro,-Rb1,-Rb2,-Rc and-Rd. *Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 22, 421-428.
- Sanjeewa, K. K. A., Kim, E.-A., Son, K.-T. & Jeon, Y.-J. 2016. Bioactive properties and potentials cosmeceutical applications of phlorotannins isolated from brown seaweeds: A review. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 162, 100-105.
- Seol, S. Y., Kim, B. R., Hong, S. C., Yoo, J. H., Lee, K. H., Lee, H. J., Park, J. D. & Pyo, M. K. 2014. The effective preparation of protopanaxadiol saponin enriched fraction from ginseng using the ultrafiltration. *Natural Product Sciences*, 20, 58-64.
- Sherma, J. 2000. Thin-layer chromatography in food and agricultural analysis. *Journal* of Chromatography A, 880, 129-147.
- Shi, S., Feng, W., Hu, S., Liang, S., An, N. & Mao, Y. 2016. Bioactive compounds of sea cucumbers and their therapeutic effects. *Chinese Journal of Oceanology* and Limnology, 34, 549-558.
- Singleton, V. & Rossi, J. A. 1965. Colorimetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdic-phosphotungstic acid reagents. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 16, 144-158.
- Song, K.-C., Chang, T.-S., Lee, H.-J., Kim, J.-H., Park, J.-H. & Hwang, G.-S. 2012. Processed *Panax ginseng*, Sun ginseng increases type I collagen by regulating MMP-1 and TIMP-1 expression in human dermal fibroblasts. *Journal of Ginseng Research*, 36, 61-67.
- Spigno, G., Tramelli, L. & De Faveri, D. M. 2007. Effects of extraction time, temperature and solvent on concentration and antioxidant activity of grape marc phenolics. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 81, 200-208.
- Sung, W. S. & Lee, D. G. 2008. The combination effect of Korean red ginseng saponins with kanamycin and cefotaxime against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 31, 1614-1617.
- Taboada, M., Gonzalez, M. & Rodriguez, E. 2003. Value and effects on digestive enzymes and serum lipids of the marine invertebrate *Holothuria forskali*. *Nutrition Research*, 23, 1661-1670.
- Taiyeb-Ali, T. B., Zainuddin, S. L. A., Swaminathan, D. & Yaacob, H. 2003. Efficacy of Gamadent'toothpaste on the healing of gingival tissues: a preliminary report. *Journal of Oral Science*, 45, 153-159.
- Tanikawa, E. 1955. Studies on the proteins of the meat of sea cucumber (Stichopus japonicus Selenka). Memoirs of the Faculty of Fisheries, Hokkaido University, 3, 1-91.

- Taofiq, O., González-Paramás, A. M., Martins, A., Barreiro, M. F. & Ferreira, I. C. 2016. Mushrooms extracts and compounds in cosmetics, cosmeceuticals and nutricosmetics—A review. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 90, 38-48.
- Thoo, Y. Y., Ho, S. K., Liang, J. Y., Ho, C. W. & Tan, C. P. 2010. Effects of binary solvent extraction system, extraction time and extraction temperature on phenolic antioxidants and antioxidant capacity from mengkudu (*Morinda citrifolia*). *Food Chemistry*, 120, 290-295.
- Tian, X., Azpurua, J., Hine, C., Vaidya, A., Myakishev-Rempel, M., Ablaeva, J., Mao, Z., Nevo, E., Gorbunova, V. & Seluanov, A. 2013. High-molecular-mass hyaluronan mediates the cancer resistance of the naked mole rat. *Nature*, 499, 346-349.
- Toral-Granda, V., Lovatelli, A. & Vasconcellos, M. 2008. *Sea cucumbers: a global review of fisheries and trade,* Rome, Italy, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Tundis, R., Loizzo, M., Bonesi, M. & Menichini, F. 2015. Potential role of natural compounds against skin aging. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 22, 1515-1538.
- Van Dyck, S., Gerbaux, P. & Flammang, P. 2010. Qualitative and quantitative saponin contents in five sea cucumbers from the Indian Ocean. *Marine Drugs*, 8, 173-189.
- Vega-Avila, E. & Pugsley, M. K. An overview of colorimetric assay methods used to assess survival or proliferation of mammalian cells. Proceedings of the Western Pharmacology Society, 2011. e4.
- Wang, H.-M. D., Chen, C.-C., Huynh, P. & Chang, J.-S. 2015. Exploring the potential of using algae in cosmetics. *Bioresource Technology*, 184, 355-362.
- Wang, L. & Weller, C. L. 2006. Recent advances in extraction of nutraceuticals from plants. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 17, 300-312.
- Wei-Hua, Y., Yang-Hua, Y., Mei, X., Zhang, H.-W. & Ming-PinG, L. 2008. Two antifungal active triterpene glycosides from sea cucumber *Holothuria* (*Microthele*) axiloga. Chinese Journal of Natural Medicines, 6, 105-108.
- Wijesinghe, W. & Jeon, Y.-J. 2011. Biological activities and potential cosmeceutical applications of bioactive components from brown seaweeds: a review. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 10, 431-443.
- Xie, P., Chen, S., Liang, Y.-Z., Wang, X., Tian, R. & Upton, R. 2006. Chromatographic fingerprint analysis—a rational approach for quality assessment of traditional Chinese herbal medicine. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1112, 171-180.
- Xu, C., Zhang, Y., Cao, L. & Lu, J. 2010. Phenolic compounds and antioxidant properties of different grape cultivars grown in China. *Food Chemistry*, 119, 1557-1565.
- Yokozawa, T., Satoh, A. & Cho, E. J. 2004. Ginsenoside-Rd attenuates oxidative damage related to aging in senescence-accelerated mice. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 56, 107-113.
- Yoo, D.-S., Rho, H.-S., Lee, Y.-G., Yeom, M.-H., Kim, D.-H., Lee, S.-J., Hong, S.-Y., Lee, J.-H. & Cho, J.-Y. 2011. Ginsenoside F1 modulates cellular responses of skin melanoma cells. *Journal of Ginseng Research*, 35, 86-91.
- Young, F. M., Phungtamdet, W. & Sanderson, B. J. 2005. Modification of MTT assay conditions to examine the cytotoxic effects of amitraz on the human lymphoblastoid cell line, WIL2NS. *Toxicology In Vitro*, 19, 1051-1059.

- Yu, L., Xu, X., Xue, C., Chang, Y., Ge, L., Wang, Y., Zhang, C., Liu, G. & He, C. 2013. Enzymatic preparation and structural determination of oligosaccharides derived from sea cucumber (*Acaudina molpadioides*) fucoidan. *Food Chemistry*, 139, 702-709.
- Yue, P. Y., Wong, D. Y., Wu, P., Leung, P., Mak, N., Yeung, H., Liu, L., Cai, Z., Jiang, Z.-H. & Fan, T. 2006. The angiosuppressive effects of 20 (R)ginsenoside Rg 3. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 72, 437-445.
- Zhang, J., Liu, S., Zhang, Y., Lu, Y., Wang, M., Wang, G. & Liu, X. 2017. Purification and antioxidant ability of peptide from egg in sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus*. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 20, 306-317.
- Zhang, R., Yan, M.-X., Xu, S.-Q. & Wang, Y.-P. 2014. Current status of research work with respect to effect of ginseng in make up and hair care cosmetics. *China Surfactant Detergent & Cosmetics*, 3, 011.
- Zhao, Q., Liu, Z.-D., Xue, Y., Wang, J.-F., Li, H., Tang, Q.-J., Wang, Y.-M., Dong, P. & Xue, C.-H. 2011. Ds-echinoside A, a new triterpene glycoside derived from sea cucumber, exhibits antimetastatic activity via the inhibition of NF-κB-dependent MMP-9 and VEGF expressions. *Journal of Zhejiang University Science B*, 12, 534-544.
- Zhao, W. 2011. Introduction to natural products chemistry, CRC Press.
- Zhao, Y., Li, B., Liu, Z., Dong, S., Zhao, X. & Zeng, M. 2007. Antihypertensive effect and purification of an ACE inhibitory peptide from sea cucumber gelatin hydrolysate. *Process Biochemistry*, 42, 1586-1591.
- Zhong, Y., Khan, M. A. & Shahidi, F. 2007. Compositional characteristics and antioxidant properties of fresh and processed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55, 1188-1192.

Appendices

Appendix 1. List of chemical reagents

Assay	Chemical reagents	Brand	No Cat	CAS
Extraction	Ethanol	Chem Supply	EL043	64-17-5
optimization	MilliQ Water			
Cytotoxicity				
Cell culture	Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium	Sigma-Aldrich	I3390	
	Fetal bovine serum	DKSH	001F	
	L-Glutamine solution	Sigma-Aldrich	G7513	56-85-9
	Penicillin-Streptomycin	Sigma-Aldrich	P4333	
Trypan blue	Trypan Blue	Sigma	T6146	72-57-1
	Sodium chloride	Sigma	S7653	7647-14-5
Crystal violet	Crystal Violet	Sigma	C0775	548-62-9
	Methanol	Merck	107018	67-56-1
	Acetic acid glacial	Chem Supply	AA221	64-19-7
Anti-aging pr	operties			·
FRAP	Tris(2,4,6)-(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine (TPTZ)	Sigma	T1253	3682-35-7
	Hydrochloric acid, fuming 37%	Merck	100317	7647-01-0
	Sodium acetate trihydrate	Sigma-Aldrich	S8625	6131-90-4
	Acetic acid glacial	Chem Supply	AA221	64-19-7
	Ferric chloride hexahydrate	BDH Analar	101104R	10025-77-1
	Ferrous sulfate heptahydrate	Sigma	F8263	7782-63-0
Total	Folin-Ciocalteu's phenol reagent	Sigma-Aldrich	F9252	
Phenolics	Sodium carbonate	Merck		497-19-8
	Gallic acid	Sigma	G-7384	149-91-7
Collagen	Sircol TM Collagen Assay Kit	Biocolor, UK		
	Dye reagent			
	Alkali reagent			
	Referred standard			
	Acid-Salt wash reagent			
	Acid neutralising reagent			
	Collagen isolation and concentration	•		

Chemical cha	racterizations			
Saponins	Saponin from quillaja bark	Sigma-Aldrich	S4521	8047-15-2
	Vanillin	Sigma	V2375	121-33-5
	Sulfuric acid 98%	Merck	112080	7664-93-9
	Ethanol	Chem Supply	EL043	64-17-5
Sugars	Anthrone	Sigma-Aldrich	319899	90-44-8
	Sulfuric acid 98%	Merck	112080	7664-93-9
	D-Glucose	Sigma	G8270	50-99-7
Protein	DC TM Protein Assay Kit II	Bio Rad	5000112	
	Protein Standard – BSA			
	Reagent A			
	Reagent B			
Fingerprintin	g analysis			
TLC	Silica gel 60 F254 aluminium sheets	Merck	1.05554.0001	
	Methanol	Chem Supply	MA004	67-56-1
	Chloroform	Merck	107024	67-66-3
	Iodine			
	MilliQ Water			



















Appendix 4. Standard curves of FRAP assay



Appendix 5. Standard curves of total phenolics assay























Appendix 8. Standard curves of soluble protein assay





Appendix 9. Correlation between chemical characterizations and cytotoxicity of *H. atra* extract

Saponins content



Sugars content



Soluble protein content



Total phenolics content



Antioxidant properties


Appendix 10. Correlation between chemical characterizations of *H. atra* extract and collagen production

Saponins content



Sugars content



Soluble protein content



Total phenolics content



Antioxidant properties

